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Aztech Group Ltd (“Aztech”) is genuinely committed to achieving the highest standard of corporate governance and 
transparency. To this end, Aztech has put in place a set of well-defi ned policies, practices and processes which enhances 
corporate transparency, accountability, business integrity, performance and protects shareholders’ interests. 

In the spirit of improving its report on corporate governance, this report is presented in tabular form with specifi c reference 
made to the principles and guidelines of the Code of Corporate Governance 2012 (the “Code”). 

Aztech’s Board of Directors is pleased to confi rm that for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2013, Aztech has adhered 
to the principles and guidelines of the Code as well as the Listing Manual of SGX-ST (“Listing Manual”) where appropriate 
and any deviations from the Code are explained in this report. 

Structure of Aztech’s Corporate Governance
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HIGHLIGHTS

Transparency

Quarterly fi nancial reports since 2007
Updates on stock information displayed on the website
Improved Ranking on Governance Transparency Index 2013 – Ranked within the Top 84 (2012 : 156) 
Exact remuneration of CEO is disclosed
Exact remuneration of Executive Directors is disclosed

Risk Management & Internal Controls
Improved internal control reporting
Internal Auditor reports on Adequacy of Internal Controls in AC meeting

Corporate Governance
Aztech’s Code of Corporate Governance (“Aztech’s Code”) was amended to comply with the Code. 

BOARD MATTERS 

THE BOARD’S CONDUCT OF AFFAIRS 

Principle 1 
Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. 
The Board is collectively responsible for the long-term success of the company. The 
Board works with Management to achieve this objective and Management remains 
accountable to the Board.

The Board protects shareholders’ long-term value by overseeing the overall affairs of 
the Group. In addition to its statutory responsibilities, the Board performs the following 
functions:
i. It provides entrepreneurial leadership, sets strategic goals and objectives and 

considers sustainability issues as part of its strategic formulation.
ii. It approves budget and fi nancial plans, key operational matters, major fundings 

and investment proposals.
iii. It monitors and assesses signifi cant risk factors, reviews the adequacy of internal 

controls and ensures that the Company’s strategies are in the interest of the 
shareholders.

iv. It assumes the responsibility for corporate governance. 

The Board also, on a quarterly basis, reviews and approves the fi nal reporting statements 
before releasing them to shareholders via the SGXNet.  In the event of any inadequacy, 
the Board gives clear directive to ensure the relevant controls are put into place.

Guideline 1.1 of the Code:
Board’s role 

Every Director is expected at all times to exercise due diligence, act in good faith and 
consider the interests of the Company. 
 

Guideline 1.2 of the Code:
Directors as fi duciaries in the 
interest of the Company

Board Committees

To facilitate execution of the Board’s responsibility, the Board has delegated certain 
functions to the following committees:
• Audit Committee (“AC”)
• Nominating Committee (“NC”) 
• Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

Guideline 1.3 of the Code:
Delegation of the Board’s 
authority
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Each Committee has well defi ned terms of reference setting out the duties and 
authorities given to it. The terms of reference are reviewed by the Board to ensure their 
continued relevance. 

The Board meets regularly and sets aside time to attend presentations by senior 
executives on strategic issues relating to specifi c business areas to allow the Board 
to develop a good understanding of the Group’s businesses. In addition to the 
scheduled meetings each year, the Board meets when warranted by circumstances. 
In the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2013, a total of six board meetings were 
held.  The attendance of the Directors at meetings of the Board and Board Committees 
during the year will be discussed below.

The schedules of Board meeting, Board Committee meeting and Annual General 
Meeting for the whole year are circulated in advance to the Directors for them to 
plan their attendance. When Directors are not able to attend meetings in person, 
telephonic means are used as permitted under Aztech’s Articles of Association. 
Timely communications are achieved through electronic means. The Board and Board 
Committees may also make decisions via written resolutions.

Guideline 1.4 of the Code:
Board to meet regularly

The attendance of the Directors at scheduled meetings during the fi nancial year ended 
31 December 2013 is disclosed below:

Board of 
Directors

Audit 
Committee

Nominating
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Number of Meetings Held
6 5 2 1

Name of Director Number of Meetings Attended

Michael Mun Hong Yew
(Executive Director)

6 5* 2 -

Colin Ng Teck Sim
(Independent Director)

6 5 2 1

Philip Tan Tee Yong
(Independent Director)

6 5 2 1

Khoo Ho Tong
(Independent Director)

6 5 2 1

Martin Chia Heok Miin
(Executive Director)

6 5* - -

Jeremy Mun Weng Hung
(Executive Director)

6 5* - -

*Attendance by invitation of the AC
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Aztech has guidelines setting out the specifi ed transactions which require Board’s 
approval. The Group has established fi nancial authorizations and approval limits for 
operating and capital expenditures and the acquisition and disposal of investments. 
All commitments to term loans and credit lines from banks require the approval of the 
Board. In particular, Aztech’s Code requires Board’s approval for any transfer of capital 
asset or any expenditure exceeding $500,000 which was not previously included 
in the approved annual budget, any investment which is not in the ordinary course 
of the Group’s businesses, any guarantee by the Group in excess of $250,000 and 
any borrowing or lending of funds (other than in the ordinary course of the Group’s 
businesses).

Guideline 1.5 of the Code:
Guidelines on Matters for Board 
Approval

In the event that new Directors are appointed, they will receive comprehensive 
orientation and briefi ngs to ensure familiarity with the Group’s businesses, transparency 
and corporate governance practices. 

All existing Directors were briefed on the Group’s businesses and governance practices, 
policies, business risks as well as statutory and other duties and responsibilities 
as Directors at the time of their respective appointments. Current Directors receive 
Company-funded training on relevant laws and governance practices. Courses offered 
by the Singapore Institute of Directors are also circulated to individual Directors 
to encourage them to attend relevant training courses that could enhance their 
knowledge as Directors of Aztech.

Guideline 1.6 of the Code:
Orientation, Briefi ng, Updates 
and Training

In the event of an appointment of a new Director, he or she will be briefed on his or 
her duties and responsibilities through oral and written means. He or she will also be 
provided with Aztech’s Code. 

Guideline 1.7 of the Code:
New Director

BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE

Principle 2
There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to 
exercise objective judgment on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from 
Management and 10% shareholders. No individual or small group of individuals should 
be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

The Board consists of six Directors comprising three Executive Directors and three 
Independent Directors. With Independent Directors comprising one-half of the Board, 
there is a strong and independent element on the Board.  
 

Guideline 2.1 & 2.2 of the Code:
Strong and Independent 
Element on the Board;
One-half of the Board shall be 
Independent Directors 

The Board has adopted the concept of Independent Directors as provided in the Code. 
Upon appointment, every Independent Director shall complete a form confi rming 
his independence. Every Independent Director shall notify the Company Secretary 
immediately of any change in circumstances that may result in him not being able to 
meet the criteria for independence.

Guideline 2.3 of the Code:
Independent Director

For the fi nancial year under review, Mr Tan, Mr Khoo and Mr Ng have served tenures of 
more than nine years. Hence, their independence has been rigorously reviewed by the 
Board with the following key assessment topics:

• Directors’ independence under the Code
• Directors’ independence from Management
• Directors’ independence from substantial shareholders
• Directors’ related party transactions
• Whether Directors’ compensation were fi xed
• Whether Directors expressed their views during Board meetings 

Guideline 2.4 of the Code:
Rigorous Review of Directors 
Serving Beyond 9 Years
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After conducting the assessment above, the Board is of the view that all three Directors 
have maintained their independence and are deemed to be independent.

The Board has reviewed and examined the size and composition of the Board and 
Board Committees and is of the view that the current size and existing composition is 
conducive to effective discussion and decision-making. 

Guideline 2.5 of the Code:
Size of the Board

The Board consists of members with relevant core competencies in areas such as 
accounting, business, industrial knowledge, strategic planning and customer-based 
experience and knowledge. The detailed profi les of each Director are found in the 
“Board of Directors” section in this Annual Report. 

Guideline 2.6 of the Code:
Composition of the Board

Non-Executive Directors constructively challenge and help develop proposals on 
strategy, review the performance of Management in achieving agreed goals and 
objectives and monitor the reporting of performance. They discuss matters such as 
Board processes, succession planning, corporate governance initiatives and the 
Group’s performance, amongst others. 

Guideline 2.7 of the Code:
Non-Executive Directors

To facilitate a more effective check on Management, Non-Executive Directors set aside 
time to meet without the presence of Management. Where required by circumstances, 
non-scheduled meetings of Non-Executive Directors are also held.

Guideline 2.8 of the Code:
Non-executive Directors’ 
Meeting without the presence 
of Management

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Principle 3
There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the 
Board and the executives responsible for managing the company’s business. No one 
individual should represent a considerable concentration of power.

The functions of Chairman and Group’s CEO are held by Mr Michael Mun.  

Mr Michael Mun provides strong leadership and vision and is very knowledgeable 
about the businesses of the Group. As Chairman of the Board, he ensures that the 
Board is properly and promptly apprised of all pertinent information and issues faced 
by the various business sectors of the Group. He encourages constructive relations 
between the Board and the Management and between Executive Directors and Non-
Executive Directors. He also ensures that a high standard of corporate governance 
practices is achieved.  

As CEO of Aztech, Mr Michael Mun sets business strategies, goals and corporate 
direction. He plays a key and hands-on role in the day-to-day operations of the Group 
and developing the businesses of the Group. 

The Chairman and CEO’s remuneration package is reviewed periodically by the RC. To 
ensure a strong and independent element and adequate safeguards against uneven 
concentration of power, the AC and the RC are composed of all Independent Directors.

Considering the current size and operation of the Group, the Board is of the view 
that it is in the best interest of the Group that Mr Michael Mun be the Chairman and 
CEO of Aztech to ensure that the decision-making process of the Group would not be 
unnecessarily hindered. 

Guideline 3.1 & 3.2 of the Code:
Chairman and CEO

Mr Tan has served as Lead Independent Director (“LID”) of the Board since 2 October 
2006. He was re-appointed as the LID on 1 October 2012 and shall continue to serve 
as such until 2 October 2014.

Guideline 3.3 of the Code:
Appointment of Lead 
Independent Director
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As the LID, Mr Tan coordinates the activities of the Independent Directors and assists 
the Chairman and the Board in ensuring effective corporate governance in managing 
the affairs of the Board and Aztech. He is available to shareholders where they have 
concerns and for which contact through the normal channels of the Chairman and 
CEO or the Chief Financial Offi cer (“CFO”) has failed to resolve or is inappropriate.

Mr Tan also leads meetings with Independent Directors without the presence of other 
Directors and provides feedback to the Chairman after such meetings.

Guideline 3.4 of the Code:
Lead Independent Director’s 
Feedback

BOARD MEMBERSHIP

Principle 4 
There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-
appointment of directors to the Board.

The NC of Aztech has been established to make recommendations to the Board on all 
board appointments. The NC ensures that a formal and transparent procedure for the 
appointment and re-nomination of Directors is in place. Its written terms of reference 
are stated in Aztech’s Code. The key terms of reference and duties of NC are as follows:-

i. facilitate formal and transparent process for appointing, re-nominating, re-electing 
and removing directors;

ii. determine the independence of directors;
iii. review each director’s competencies and contributions;
iv. implement a formal process to assess the performance and contributions of each 

individual director, Board Committee and the Board as a whole; 
v. assess if the Board is able to adequately discharge its obligations to oversee 

Management performance and provide guidance to the Group; and
vi. review of training and professional development programs for the Board.

The NC comprises the following four Board members:-

• Colin Ng Teck Sim (Chairman)
• Khoo Ho Tong 
• Philip Tan Tee Yong 
• Michael Mun Hong Yew

Three of the NC members, including the Chairman, are Independent Directors. In 
order to comply with Guideline 4.1 of the Code that the LID should be a member of 
NC, Mr Tan was appointed on 5 November 2012.

Guideline 4.1 of the Code:
Composition of NC

The NC recommends the process of evaluation of the Board, Board Committees and 
individual Directors’ performance, competencies, commitment and contribution. 
It reviews training and professional development programs for the Board and 
recommends the appointment and re-appointment of Directors. Pursuant to Article 
107 of Aztech’s Articles of Association, at the Annual General Meeting in every year, 
one-third of the Directors for the time being (other than the Managing Director) or  if 
their number is not three or multiple of three, then the number nearest one-third shall 
retire from offi ce. Article 108 of Aztech’s Articles of Association further provides that 
the Directors to retire in every year shall be those who have been longest in offi ce since 
their last election but as between persons who became Directors on the same day, 
those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined 
by lot.

Guideline 4.2 of the Code:
NC’s Recommendations

The NC annually reviews the independence of Directors and provides its views to the 
Board.

Guideline 4.3 of the Code:
NC’s Determination of 
Directors’ Independence 
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All Directors annually disclose their directorships in listed and non-listed companies to 
the NC. The NC then ascertains whether a Director with multiple board representations 
is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties. Aztech’s Code provides 
that the number of listed company board representations which a Director may hold 
should be no more than six directorships for a Director with full-time employment and 
eight directorships for a Director with no full-time employment. 

Guideline 4.4 of the Code: 
Multiple Directorships

Taking into account the results of the assessment of the effectiveness of individual 
Directors, the NC is satisfi ed that all Directors have adequately carried out their duties 
as such notwithstanding their multiple board representations.

The Company does not have alternate Directors. Guideline 4.5 of the Code:
Avoid Appointment of 
Alternate Directors

When an existing Director chooses to retire or the need for a new Director arises, 
the NC shall review the range of expertise and skills of the Board. The NC will then 
determine the appropriate selection criteria and identify candidates with relevant 
experience for the appointment of a new Director. After the NC has reached a decision, 
it will recommend the candidate for the Board’s approval. 

Guideline 4.6 of the Code:
Process for Selection, 
Appointment and Re-
Appointment of Directors

The date of appointment, last re-appointment and directorships (present and those 
held over the preceding three years in listed companies) of each Director are disclosed 
below:  

Michael Mun Hong Yew
Date fi rst appointed: 6 August 1986
Directorship in Listed Company: Aztech Group Ltd

Martin Chia Heok Miin
Date fi rst appointed: 8 June 2006
Date last re-elected: 26 April 2013
Directorship in Listed Company: Aztech Group Ltd

Jeremy Mun Weng Hung
Date fi rst appointed: 8 June 2006
Date last re-elected: 27 April 2012
Directorship in Listed Company: Aztech Group Ltd

Philip Tan Tee Yong
Date fi rst appointed: 26 June 1993
Date last re-elected: 8 April 2011
Directorship in Listed Company: Aztech Group Ltd

Colin Ng Teck Sim
Date fi rst appointed: 12 October 1993
Date last re-elected: 8 April 2011
Directorships in Listed Companies:
Aztech Group Ltd
Achieva Limited (present) Independent Director
 Chairman of NC 
 Member of AC and RC
CEI Contract Manufacturing Limited Independent Director
(present) Chairman of NC 
 Member of AC and RC

Guideline 4.7 of the Code:
Key Information on Directors
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Chaswood Resources Holdings Ltd Independent Director
(present) Chairman of AC and RC
TSH Corporation Limited (past)* Independent Director
*(24 November 2000 to 31 March 2014) Member of RC and NC
 
Khoo Ho Tong
Date fi rst appointed: 12 November 2002
Date last re-elected: 26 April 2013
Directorships in Listed Companies:
Aztech Group Ltd
Nam Lee Pressed Metal Industries Ltd Independent Director
(present) Chairman of AC 
 Member of RC and NC

Mr Jeremy Mun Weng Hung is the son of Mr Michael Mun Hong Yew. 

Mr Khoo Ho Tong, who is over the age of 70 years, will retire at the forthcoming AGM 
and be subject to re-appointment by the Company’s shareholders pursuant to Section 
153(6) of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (“Companies Act”). 

Mr Philip Tan Tee Yong will retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM pursuant to 
Article 107 of the Company’s Articles of Association and be subject to re-election by 
the Company’s shareholders. 

Further key information of Directors is disclosed at pages 6-7 of this Annual Report.

BOARD PERFORMANCE

Principle 5 
There should be a formal annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole 
and its board committees and the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of 
the Board.

The NC assesses the performance and effectiveness of the Board as a whole, of its 
Board Committees and the individual Directors’ contributions to the effectiveness of 
the entire Board annually.  In order to further strengthen the evaluation process of the 
Board as a whole, the CFO, Internal Auditor and Company Secretary are also called to 
assess the effectiveness of the Board. 

Evaluation of the Board as a Whole and Board Committees 
The process of evaluating the performance of the Board and of Board Committees is 
as follows:

(i) An assessment checklist (the “Assessment Checklist”) for annual evaluation, which 
takes into consideration factors such as Board’s and of the Board Committees’ 
composition, proceedings and relationship with Management, is completed by the 
Board members and Board Committee members. 

(ii) The Company Secretary collates and presents the feedback from the completed 
Assessment Checklist to the NC.

(iii) The NC will assess and discuss the performance of the Board as a whole and the 
Board Committees every year and ascertain key areas for improvement and actions 
to be undertaken.

Guidelines 5.1 - 5.3 of the 
Code:
Process of Evaluation of the 
Board, Board Committees and 
Individual Directors
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Evaluation of Individual Director 
The process of evaluating the performance of the individual Directors is as follows:

(i) The Board members rate the Directors by completing the Directors’ Assessment 
Checklist. The Checklist aims to assess the Director’s attendance and participation 
at Board meetings, leadership capability, ability to strategize and propose sound 
business direction and general effectiveness. 

(ii) The Company Secretary collates and presents the feedback from the completed 
Assessment Checklist to the NC.  

(iii) The NC will then review and appoint a member of the NC to discuss the feedback 
with the individual Board members. 

The Chairman acts on the results of evaluation. In consultation with NC, he may provide 
appropriate guidance to the respective Director to improve his performance.

For FY2013, the NC is of the view that the Board, Board Committees and all Directors 
have contributed effectively and demonstrated full commitment to their roles.

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Principle 6 

In order to fulfi l their responsibilities, directors should be provided with complete, 
adequate and timely information prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis 
so as to enable them to make informed decisions to discharge their duties and 
responsibilities.

Management believes that complete, adequate and timely information is essential to 
the Board’s effective and effi cient discharge of its duties. The Board has separate and 
independent access to Management. 

Guideline 6.1 of the Code:
Complete, Adequate and 
Timely Information from the 
Management

On a regular basis, Management provides the Board with adequate updates to keep 
the Board abreast of the Group’s operational and fi nancial performance as well as any 
challenges that the Group’s operations may face. Management also keeps Directors 
updated on regulatory changes as well as major developments in the business 
environment. The fi nance team presents fi nancial highlights and a detailed analysis of 
each quarter’s performance and addresses any queries that the Board may have.

Guideline 6.2 of the Code:
Information Provided to the 
Board

Agenda, draft minutes of meetings, Board and Board Committee papers, disclosure 
documents, budgets, forecasts and related materials are circulated in advance of the 
meeting to the Directors for them to suggest items for the Agenda and to enable the 
Board to prepare for the meetings. Budgets are discussed annually and any material 
variance between the projections and actual results are explained comprehensively by 
the fi nance team. 

Directors have separate and independent access to the Company Secretary. The role 
of the Company Secretary is clearly defi ned in Aztech’s Code. The Company Secretary 
is present in all Board and Board Committee meetings and is responsible for ensuring 
that Board procedures are observed and that Aztech’s Memorandum and Articles of 
Association, relevant rules and regulations, including Companies Act, Listing Manual 
and the Code are complied with. She also assists the Chairman and the Board in 
implementing and strengthening corporate governance practices as well as facilitating 
trainings for Directors. She ensures that good information fl ows within the Board and 
Board Committees and between Management and Independent Directors. She is also 
the channel of communications between the Company and SGX-ST. 

Guideline 6.3 of the Code:
Directors’ Access to Company 
Secretary
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The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary are subject to the approval 
of the Board as a whole.

Guideline 6.4 of the Code:
Appointment and Removal of 
Company Secretary

The Directors, either individually or as a group, may, subject to the approval of the 
Chairman, take independent professional advice at the expense of the Company. 

Guideline 6.5 of the Code:
Independent Advice

PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION POLICIES

Principle 7 
There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive 
remuneration and for fi xing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No 
director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The RC comprises the following three Directors: 

• Khoo Ho Tong (Chairman)
• Philip Tan Tee Yong
• Colin Ng Teck Sim

In order to minimize the risk of any potential confl ict of interest, all RC members are 
Independent and Non-Executive Directors. No RC member is involved in deliberations 
in respect of any remuneration, compensation or any form of benefi ts to be granted 
to him.

The RC assists the Board in establishing and implementing a framework for the 
remuneration of Directors and Key Management Personnel. The key terms of reference 
of RC are as follows:-

(i) facilitate a formal and transparent process in fi xing the remuneration of Directors 
and Key Management Personnel; and

Guideline 7.1 of the Code:
Establishment of the RC

(ii) adopt performance measurement tools as may be appropriate for the purpose of 
assessing the performance of Directors and Key Management Personnel.

The RC reviews all aspects of remuneration including, but not limited to, Directors’ 
fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options, share-based incentives and awards and 
benefi ts in kind. The RC reviews all proposed remuneration, including all adjustments 
and promotions of Executive Directors and Key Management Personnel. The quantum 
of remuneration and promotion is fi nalized only upon the approval of the RC and the 
endorsement of the Board.

Guideline 7.2 of the Code:
RC’s Review of Remuneration of 
the Board and Key Management 
Personnel 

Being managers of their own businesses and in view of their extensive experience, all 
members of the RC are familiar with executive compensation matters. All members 
have access to advice and input from the Head of Human Resources and, if required, 
may seek the advice of internal and external experts.

Guideline 7.3 of the Code:
RC to Seek Expert Advice on 
Remuneration 

The RC reviews the Executive Directors’ service agreements to ensure that such 
agreements contain fair and reasonable termination clauses which are not overly 
generous.

Guideline 7.4 of the Code:
RC’s Review of Company’s 
Obligations upon Termination 
of Executive Directors and Key 
Management Personnel
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LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION

Principle 8 
The level and structure of remuneration should be aligned with the long-term interest 
and risk policies of the company, and should be appropriate to attract, retain and 
motivate (a) the directors to provide good stewardship of the company, and (b) key 
management personnel to successfully manage the company. However, companies 
should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose.

The RC conducts annual review of the Executive Directors’ and Key Management 
Personnel’s remuneration. It ensures that their compensation packages are structured 
to link rewards to corporate and individual performance. The RC also takes into 
account the fi nancial and commercial state of the Company as well as the interests of 
shareholders and the long-term success of the Company. 

Guideline 8.1 & 8.2 of the Code:
Structure of Remuneration of 
Executive Directors and Key 
Management Personnel 

All Independent and Non-Executive Directors have no service agreements with Aztech. 
Directors’ fees are paid to them based on their level of contribution, taking into account 
factors such as the effort and time spent and responsibilities assigned to them.

Guideline 8.3 of the Code:
Remuneration of Non-Executive 
Directors

The Board concurred with the RC’s proposal for the Directors’ fees for the year ending 
31 December 2014 which shall be paid on a quarterly basis, subject to shareholders’ 
approval at the AGM. The RC and the Board are of the view that the remuneration of 
the Directors is appropriate and not excessive, taking into account the effort and time 
spent and the necessary onerous responsibilities of the Directors as the Group has 
diversifi ed into new business sectors in the last fi ve years. 

All Executive Directors have service agreements approved by the RC and renewed 
every three years.

Guideline 8.4 of the Code:
Reclaiming Incentive 
Components of Remuneration 
from Executive Directors and 
Key Management Personnel

DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION

Principle 9
Every company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policies, level and 
mix of remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s 
Annual Report. It should provide disclosure in relation to its remuneration policies to 
enable investors to understand the link between remuneration paid to directors and key 
management personnel, and performance.

The Company annually reports to shareholders on the remuneration of its Directors, 
CEO, top Key Management Personnel and employees who are immediate family 
members of a Director or the CEO and whose remuneration exceeds $50,000. 

Guideline 9.1 of the Code:
Report to Shareholders
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For transparency and in strict compliance with the Code, full disclosure of each 
Director’s remuneration and the breakdown and basis for such are provided below: 

Philip 
Tan 
Tee 
Yong

Colin 
Ng 
Teck 
Sim

Khoo 
Ho 
Tong

Michael 
Mun 
Hong 
Yew

Martin 
Chia 
Heok 
Miin

Jeremy 
Mun 
Weng 
Hung

Board Member 
(Basic)

$30,000 $30,000 $30,000 $30,000 $30,000 $30,000

Member of 
one or more 
Committees

$20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 - -

Chairman 
of NC

- $10,000 - - - -

Chairman 
of RC

- - $10,000 - - -

Chairman 
of AC

$30,000 - - - - -

Lead 
Independent 
Director

$5,000 - - - - -

Total $85,000 $60,000 $60,000 $50,000 $30,000 $30,000

Guideline 9.2 of the Code:
Full Disclosure of Director 
and CEO’s Remuneration on a 
Named Basis

CEO’s Remuneration

In strict compliance with the Code, the exact remuneration and the breakdown of the 
CEO’s remuneration (who is also an Executive Director) for the fi nancial year ended 31 
December 2013 is set out below:
 

CEO and 
Executive 
Director

Salary and
Director’s 

Fees

Bonus Profi t Sharing *Others Total 

Michael Mun 
Hong Yew

$843,080 $132,180 $77,639 $189,492 $1,242,391

* The contribution to the Central Provident Fund, allowances and car cost (if any) are 
included in the column referred to as “Others” above.

In appreciation of the CEO’s contributions and service to the Company, two club 
memberships will be granted to him upon his retirement. None of the other 
Directors and Key Management Personnel has similar termination, retirement or post-
employment benefi ts.
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Executive Directors’ Remuneration
                        
The exact remuneration and the breakdown of remuneration of the Executive Directors 
for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2013 are set out below:

Executive 
Directors

Salary and
Director’s 

Fees

Bonus Profi t Sharing *Others Total 

Martin Chia 
Heok Miin

$304,908 $34,500 $10,000 $58,118 $407,526

Jeremy Mun 
Weng Hung

$202,360 $29,000 $10,000 $60,214 $301,574

* The contribution to the Central Provident Fund, allowances and car cost (if any) are 
included in the column referred to as “Others” above.

Top Key Management Personnel

The term “Key Management Personnel” is defi ned in the Code to mean “the CEO 
and other persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Company”. Having regard to the authority and 
responsibilities conferred on the members of our management team, the Company’s 
Key Management Personnel (who are not Directors or CEO) are as follows:

1. Michael Lee Thiam Seong - Senior Vice President,
   Head of Strategic Alliance

2. Jason Saw Chwee Meng - Senior Vice President, 
   Head of Research and Development

3. Pavani Nagarajah - Senior Vice President, 
   Head of Legal and Corporate Affairs

4. Herman So Kam Hung - Senior Vice President, 
   Head of Finance/CFO

In addition to the activities of the Group managed by the Key Management Personnel 
as set out above, the sales as well as the marketing and branding activities of the 
Group are headed by our two Executive Directors, Mr Martin Chia Heok Miin and Mr 
Jeremy Mun Weng Hung respectively. For the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2013, 
save as disclosed above, Aztech and its subsidiary companies do not have any other 
personnel who fall within the defi nition of “Key Management Personnel”.

Guideline 9.3 of the Code:
Remuneration of Top 5 Key 
Management Personnel 
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To maintain the confi dentiality of the remuneration policies of the Company, the Board 
is of the view that it is in the best interest of the Company not to fully disclose the exact 
remuneration of each of the top Key Management Personnel. Instead, the remuneration 
of top Key Management Personnel (who are not Directors or the CEO) is disclosed in 
bands of $100,000. The breakdown of their remuneration is as follows: 

Top Key 
Management 
Personnel

Salary and
Director’s 
Fees (%)

Bonus 
(%)

Profi t Sharing 
(%)

*Others 
(%)

Total 
(%)

Between 
$300,000
and $400,000

Michael Lee 
Thiam Seong

68 14 3 15 100

Between 
$200,000
and $300,000

Jason Saw 
Chwee Meng

70 12 2 16 100

Pavani 
Nagarajah

70 12 4 14 100

Between 
$100,000
and $200,000

Herman So 
Kam Hung

81 12 5 2 100

* The contribution to the Central Provident Fund, allowances and car cost (if any) are 
included in the column referred to as “Others” above.
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Employee Who Is an Immediate Family Member of a Director or CEO

For the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2013, save as disclosed in the following 
table, the Company and its subsidiary companies did not have any other employee 
who is an immediate family member of a Director or CEO and whose remuneration 
exceeded $50,000.

The breakdown of the remuneration of Mun Weng Kai (Wen Yongjia), the son of 
Michael Mun Hong Yew (the CEO and a substantial shareholder of Aztech) and brother 
of Jeremy Mun Weng Hung (an Executive Director of Aztech and its subsidiaries) is 
disclosed below: 
 

Salary
(%)

Bonus 
(%)

Profi t Sharing 
(%)

*Others 
(%)

Total 
(%)

Between $150,000 
and $200,000

Mun Weng Kai (Wen 
Yongjia)

52 13 3 32 100

* The contribution to the Central Provident Fund, allowances and car cost (if any) are 
included in the column referred to as “Others” above.

Guideline 9.4 of the Code:
Remuneration of Employees 
who are Immediate Family 
Members of a Director or the 
CEO and whose Remuneration 
exceeds S$50,000 during the 
year

The Group does not have any share based compensation scheme or long-term 
incentive schemes in force such as share option schemes or share grant schemes. 

Guideline 9.5 of the Code:
Employee Share Schemes

Aztech adheres to a performance-based remuneration system for Executive Directors 
and Key Management Personnel comprising a basic salary and a variable performance 
bonus based on the Group’s performance and individual performance. 

Aztech has a short-term incentive scheme in the form of a profi t sharing scheme (the 
“Scheme”) to encourage Executive Directors, Key Management Personnel and key 
staff to become more involved and committed to the business, especially to those 
values, attitudes and practices which foster profi tability of the Company. The Scheme 
for Executive Directors is discussed in the Directors’ Report at page 52-53. In addition 
to the Executive Directors, the Key Management Personnel are also eligible to share 
in the same profi t sharing pool (the “Pool”) as described in page 53. The quantum 
of payment from the Pool for Executive Directors and Key Management Personnel is 
proposed by the CEO to the RC. Thereafter, the RC will make recommendations to the 
Board for their endorsement. The Board will deliberate on the RC’s recommendations 
and, if deemed acceptable, approve the payment of profi t sharing. 

For the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2013, all Executive Directors are entitled to 
payment on the Scheme.  

Guideline 9.6 of the Code:
Link Between Remuneration 
and Performance

ACCOUNTABILITY

Principle 10
The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s 
performance, position and prospects. 
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As the Board is accountable to the shareholders, it believes that it should always 
conduct itself to deliver maximum sustainable value to shareholders. To this end, 
the Board provides a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s 
performance, position and prospects through quarterly and annual fi nancial reports as 
well as timely announcements on developments in the Group’s businesses. 

In addition to meeting its statutory disclosure obligations, the Group provides 
powerpoint presentation on the Group’s quarterly results detailing insights to the 
operational and business challenges faced by the Group’s various business sectors.

Financial reports and other price sensitive information are disseminated to shareholders 
through announcements via SGXNet and Company’s website. As a matter of good 
corporate governance practice, the Board reviews and approves all fi nancial reports 
before releasing the same. Aztech’s Annual Reports are also easily accessible on 
the Company’s website (www.aztech-group.com) and the original hard copies are  
available upon request. 

Guideline 10.1 of the Code:
Board to Provide Balanced and 
Understandable Assessment of 
Company’s Performance

The Board takes adequate steps to ensure compliance with legislative and regulatory 
requirements, including requirements under the Listing Manual, for instance, by 
establishing written policies where appropriate.

Pursuant to Rule 705(5) of the Listing Manual, the Board issues negative assurance 
statements in its interim fi nancial results announcements confi rming that to the best of 
its knowledge, nothing has come to the attention of the Board which may render the 
interim fi nancial statements false or misleading in any material aspect.

Guideline 10.2 of the Code:
Board to Ensure Compliance 
with Legislative and Regulatory 
Requirements

Management recognizes the importance of providing the Board with a continual fl ow 
of relevant information accurately and timely for it to effectively perform its duties. 
In view of the fact that Management provides the Board with appropriate detailed 
management accounts, comparison of actual performance with the budget, highlights 
of key business indicators and projections for the next quarter, the Company believes 
that the information is adequate to give the Board an understanding of the Company’s 
fi nancials and actual performance. Hence, the foregoing information is only provided 
on a quarterly basis.

Guideline 10.3 of the Code:
Management to Provide the 
Board with Management 
Accounts

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

Principle 11
The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board should ensure that 
Management maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls to 
safeguard shareholders’ interests and the company’s assets, and should determine the 
nature and extent of the signifi cant risks which the Board is willing to take in achieving 
its strategic objectives.

The Board is responsible for governance of risks and sets the direction for the Group to 
monitor and manage risks and internal control systems. To this end, the Board reviews 
the Group’s businesses and operational activities as presented by Management to 
identify areas of signifi cant risks and recommends appropriate measures to control 
and mitigate such risks. Annually, the Board reviews the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems, including fi nancial, 
operational, compliance and information technology controls. 

Guideline 11.1 and 11.2 of the 
Code:
Board Determine Levels 
of Risk Tolerance and Risk 
Policies and Review Adequacy 
and Effectiveness of Risk 
Management and Internal 
Control Systems 
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For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Board has received assurance from the 
CEO and the CFO that the fi nancial records have been properly maintained and the 
fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of the Company’s operations and fi nances 
and regarding the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal 
control systems. 

Guideline 11.3 of the Code:
Board to Comment on 
Adequacy and Effectiveness of 
Internal Controls

The Company has a Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) which assists the Board 
in carrying out its responsibility of overseeing the Company’s risk management 
framework and policies. The members of the RMC comprise two Executive Directors, 
the CFO and the Company Secretary.

Guideline 11.4 of the Code:
Establishment of Risk 
Committee

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Principle 12
The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which 
clearly set out its authority and duties.

The AC comprises three Directors, all of whom are non-executive and independent and 
free from Management and business relationships with any substantial shareholder. 
The members of AC are as follows:

• Philip Tan Tee Yong (Chairman)
• Khoo Ho Tong 
• Colin Ng Teck Sim

The operation of the AC is guided by its terms of reference. The key terms of reference 
of AC will be discussed below in detail. 

Guideline 12.1 of the Code:
Composition of AC

All members of the AC have the requisite accounting expertise and experience to 
discharge their duties competently. The AC Chairman, Mr Philip Tan Tee Yong has 
accounting and business expertise and experience. The other members, Mr Khoo Ho 
Tong and Mr Colin Ng Teck Sim have expertise in accounting, legal and business issues.

Guideline 12.2 of the Code:
Qualifi cation of AC Members

To effectively discharge its duties, the AC has the explicit authority to investigate any 
matters within its terms of reference. Moreover, it has full access to and co-operation 
by Management. It also has full discretion to invite any Director or Management to 
attend its meetings. The Company ensures that full resources are available for the AC 
to discharge its functions properly. 

Guideline 12.3 of the Code:
AC to Have Full Access and Co-
operation of Management

The key terms of reference of the AC are:-

i. reviewing the scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness;
ii. conducting an annual review of the volume of non-audit services to satisfy itself 

that the nature and extent of such services will not prejudice the independence 
and objectivity of the auditors before confi rming their re-nomination;

iii. keeping the nature and extent of non-audit services under review, seeking to 
balance the maintenance of objectivity and value for money;

iv reviewing the signifi cant fi nancial reporting issues and judgments;
v. ensuring the integrity of the fi nancial statements of the Company and any formal 

announcements relating to the Company’s fi nancial performance;
vi. reviewing the adequacy of the Company’s internal fi nancial controls, operational 

and compliance controls and risk management policies and systems established 
by the management;

vii. reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function;
viii. making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and 

removal of the External Auditors; 
ix. approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the External Auditors;

Guideline 12.4 of the Code:
Duties of AC
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x. reviewing the scope and results of the external audit and the independence and 
objectivity of the External Auditors annually;

xi. reviewing the internal audit programme and report;
xii. reviewing interested person transactions (as defi ned in the Listing Manual) and 

report its fi ndings to the Board;
xiii. reviewing arrangements by which staff of the Company may, in confi dence, raise 

concerns about possible improprieties in matters of fi nancial reporting or other 
matters. The AC’s objective should be to ensure that arrangements are in place 
for the independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow up 
action; and 

xiv. undertaking such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the 
Listing Manual, and by such amendments made thereto from time to time.

The AC has full access to External Auditors and Internal Auditor and meets them at 
least annually without the presence of Management.

Guideline 12.5 of the Code:
AC to Meet Auditors without 
the Presence of Management

The AC reviews the independence of the External Auditors annually. The AC has 
recommended to the Board the re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the 
Company’s External Auditors at the forthcoming AGM.

The aggregate amount of fees paid to the External Auditors for the fi nancial year 
ended 31 December 2013 and breakdown of the fees paid in total for audit and non-
audit services respectively are stated below:

External Auditor Fees for FY2013 $’000

Total Audit Fees 395

Total Non-Audit Fees 98

Total Fees Paid 493

AC has reviewed all non-audit services provided by External Auditors to the Company. 
The AC is of the opinion that they would not affect the independence of External 
Auditors. 

Aztech confi rms that it has complied with Rules 712 and 715 of the Listing Manual in 
relation to the appointment of auditors. 

Guideline 12.6 of the Code:
AC to Review Independence of 
External Auditors

Whistleblowing Policy

To reinforce a culture of good business ethics and governance, a Whistleblowing Policy 
has been in place by which Directors, offi cers and employees of the Company may, in 
confi dence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of fi nancial reporting 
or other matters. The policy defi nes the processes clearly to ensure that arrangements 
are in place for such concerns to be raised and independently investigated and for 
appropriate follow-up action to be taken.

Guideline 12.7 of the Code:
Whistleblowing Policy

Employees are encouraged to raise serious concerns to their immediate supervisors. 
However, if they are not comfortable speaking with their supervisors or are not satisfi ed 
with their supervisor’s response, they can approach the head of their division or the 
Internal Auditor directly.

The Internal Auditor is responsible for investigating and resolving all reported 
complaints and allegations concerning violations and shall advise the LID of all of his 
or her fi ndings. The Internal Auditor shall work with the LID and the Group’s Head of 
Human Resources to address all violations so that appropriate action may be taken 
against the perpetrator.
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There have been no reported incidents pertaining to whistleblowing for FY2013. 

AC Activities

During the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2013, the AC conducted the following:
1. review of quarterly fi nancial statements prior to approving and recommending to 

the Board that such statements be released;
2. review the interested person transactions of the Group; and
3. review the External Auditors’ proposed audit scope and approach. 

The Internal Auditor highlights to the AC any material non-compliance or lapses 
in internal controls and the measures taken to address them. The AC reviews the 
timeliness of actions taken by Management to address the recommendations of the 
auditors. 

Guideline 12.8 of the Code:
AC’s Activities

The AC discusses with the External Auditors the changes to accounting standards, 
Listing Rules of SGX-ST and other regulations which could have an impact on the 
Groups’ business and fi nancial statements. 

No former partner or Director of the Company’s existing auditing fi rm acts as a member 
of the AC. 

Guideline 12.9 of the Code:
Prohibition for Certain Persons to 
be an AC Member

INTERNAL AUDIT

Principle 13
The company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the 
activities it audits. 

Aztech’s internal audit function is serviced in-house. The Internal Auditor reports 
directly to the AC Chairman although she would also report administratively to the 
CEO. As Aztech’s Internal Auditor, Ms Carrie Cheung has unfettered access to all 
Company documents, records, properties and personnel including access to the AC. 

The Group’s Internal Auditor also continuously performs fi nancial and operational audits 
to ensure effectiveness of and compliance with Aztech’s system of internal controls. All 
operating companies within the Group are subjected to audit on a rotational basis. 
The Internal Auditor participates in all AC meetings and ensures that the internal audit 
function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company.

Guideline 13.1 and 13.2 of the 
Code:
Internal Audit Function and 
Internal Auditor

The Group’s Internal Auditor has the requisite professional qualifi cation, skill, 
knowledge and experience. She effectively fulfi lls the audit plan and timetable and 
issues audit reports timely. She is active in promoting awareness and importance of 
good governance, risk management and control matters. She is an associate member 
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certifi ed Public Accountants, has adopted and met with 
the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by the Institute of 
Internal Auditors. 

Guideline 13.3 and 13.4 of the 
Code:
Qualifi cations of Internal Audit 
Function

The AC biannually reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of Aztech’s internal audit 
function. For the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2013, the AC is satisfi ed that the 
internal audit function is adequate and effective.

Guideline 13.5 of the Code:
Review of Adequacy and 
Effectiveness of Internal Audit 
Function
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On an annual basis, the Internal Auditor prepares and executes an internal audit 
program to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal controls 
of the Group. With the Group’s diversifi cation into new businesses for the past 
fi ve years, the internal audit program has been modifi ed to meet the needs of the 
Group. The Internal Auditor works closely with Management to promote effective 
risk management, internal control and governance practices. On special request 
of the Board, the Internal Auditor provides reports on specifi c issues raised by the 
Board.  In addition, the External Auditors would highlight any material internal control 
weaknesses which have come to their attention in the course of their statutory audit.  
All fi ndings and recommendations for both internal and external audit processes 
are made to the Board. The Board will then give a comment on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the internal controls, including fi nancial, operational, compliance 
and information technology controls and risk management systems. The Board’s 
commentary will include information needed by stakeholders to make an informed 
assessment of the company’s internal control and risk management systems. 

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Principle 14
Companies should treat all shareholders fairly and equitably, and should recognize, 
protect and facilitate the exercise of shareholders’ rights, and continually review and 
update such governance arrangements. 

Aztech is highly committed to maintaining and constantly improving its standards 
of corporate disclosure and transparency. To this end, Aztech provides timely 
communication with shareholders. Aztech makes timely disclosures of any new material 
information through  SGXNet and Aztech’s website.

Guideline 14.1 of the Code:
Facilitate the Exercise of 
Ownership Rights by All 
Shareholders

Aztech ensures that shareholders have the opportunity to participate effectively at 
general meetings, which are held at a venue easily accessible by public transportation. 
Information on shareholders meetings is disseminated through notices in the annual 
reports or circulars sent to all shareholders. The notices are also released via SGXNet, 
published in local newspapers and  posted on the Company website. Applicable rules 
during meetings, including the voting procedures that govern general meetings, are 
duly communicated to shareholders.

Guideline 14.2 of the Code:
Opportunity for Shareholders 
to Participate at General 
Meetings

In view of Article 90(2) of the Company’s Articles of Association, a member is not 
entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend and vote at the same General 
Meeting. In view of this, Guideline 14.3 has not been adopted. 

Guideline 14.3 of the Code:
Appointment of Proxies

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 15
Companies should actively engage their shareholders and put in place an investor 
relations policy to promote regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders. 

The Group is required under the Listing Manual to inform shareholders of all 
developments that may have a material impact on the Group. The Board ensures full 
compliance with this statutory requirements and has established a disclosure policy 
that embraces transparency in the Group’s affairs, while safeguarding the Group’s 
commercial interests and confi dentiality obligations imposed by trading partners. 
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Aztech has an effective policy on investor relations to regularly convey pertinent 
information to shareholders. Key information for the investment community is available 
on Aztech’s website. Aztech’s website also contains a wealth of information such as 
corporate, fi nancial and stock information. Shareholders may also opt to subscribe for 
Company announcements and SGXNet fi lings of Aztech by simply fi lling out the details 
required on  Aztech’s website. 

Aztech discloses information timely to shareholders. Since 2007, Aztech has adopted 
quarterly fi nancial results reporting. 

Guideline 15.1 and 15.2 of the 
Code:
Effective Investor Relations 

The Board addresses shareholders’ concerns during the General Meeting. Aztech 
has a dedicated investor relations team headed by the Company Secretary. The team 
communicates to shareholders and attends to their queries and concerns. Institutional 
shareholders and analysts can contact investor relations offi cers whose contact details 
are available on Aztech’s website.

Guideline 15.3 and 15.4 of the 
Code:
Dialogue with Shareholders 

The form, frequency and amount of dividends of the Company will depend on the 
Group’s earnings, fi nancial position, result of operations, capital expenditures and 
other factors. For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Company is declaring a fi nal 
one-tier tax exempt dividend of $0.0075 per share. 

Guideline 15.5 of the Code:
Policy on Dividends 

CONDUCT OF SHAREHOLDER MEETINGS

Principle 16
Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at general meetings of 
shareholders, and allow shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on 
various matters affecting the company. 

Aztech strongly encourages and supports shareholders’ attendance and participation 
at general meetings. In the event that shareholders will not be able to attend the 
general meetings, Aztech’s Articles of Association allows a shareholder to appoint up 
to two proxies to attend and vote in place of the shareholder.

Guideline 16.1 of the Code:
Shareholders’ Participation at 
General Meetings 

At general meetings, every matter requiring approval is proposed as a separate 
resolution and the Chairman declares the number of proxy votes received for and 
against each resolution. Shareholders present are given an opportunity to clarify or 
direct questions on issues pertaining to the proposed resolutions before the resolutions 
are voted on.

Guideline 16.2 of the Code:
Separate Resolutions on 
Separate Issues 

In order to address shareholders’ queries, all Directors are present at the general 
meetings. External Auditors are also present to answer questions on the conduct of 
audit and the preparation and content of the auditor’s report.  Aside from the Directors 
and External Auditors, Aztech’s Registrar, BACS Pte Ltd, also attends the meetings. 

Guideline 16.3 of the Code:
Presence of Directors at General 
Meetings

The results of the general meeting are released to shareholders via SGXNet on the 
same day the meeting is held. The Company Secretary prepares the minutes of the 
general meeting which will be available to shareholders upon request.

Guideline 16.4 of the Code:
Minutes of General Meeting

As required by the Listing Manual, the Company intends to adopt voting by poll 
effective 1 August 2015. 

Guideline 16.5 of the Code:
Resolutions by Poll
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Interested Person Transactions (“IPTs”)

Under Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, an IPT means a transaction between an entity 
at risk (the listed company, its subsidiaries or associated companies) and an interested 
person (director, chief executive offi cer or controlling shareholder or any of their 
associate(s)).

In the light of the provisions of the Listing Manual, Aztech has adopted the procedure 
for internal controls on IPT as follows: 

1. All proposed signifi cant IPTs are reviewed by Aztech Finance Team and AC.
2. Aztech’s fi nance team also prepares the list of IPTs every quarter and submits the 

list to the Company’s CFO for review. 
3. The CFO will then forward the list to the Company’s Internal Auditor. 
4. The Internal Auditor will then review and, where necessary, request for information 

to confi rm that the transactions are conducted at arm’s length. 
5. CFO will report to the AC on a quarterly basis on any IPT. 

The transactions entered into with interested persons during the fi nancial year ended 
31 December 2013 which fall under Rule 907 of the Listing Manual are:

Name of Interested 
Person

Aggregate value of 
all interested person 
transactions during the 
fi nancial year under 
review (excluding 
transactions less 
than $100,000 and 
transactions conducted 
under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to Rule 
920 of the Listing Manual)

Aggregate value of 
all interested person 
transactions conducted 
under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to Rule 
920 of the Listing Manual 
(excluding transactions 
less than $100,000)

Purchase of tipper 
trucks from a company 
related to Michael 
Mun Hong Yew and 
Mr Jeremy Mun Weng 
Hung*

$1,083,000 -

Services rendered by 
a company related to 
Michael Mun Hong Yew 
and Jeremy Mun Weng 
Hung*

$740,000 -

Sale of car to Michael 
Mun Hong Yew 
pursuant to his Service 
Agreement

$136,000 -
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*Under Rule 904 (6) of the Listing Manual, any transaction of provision or receipt of services, 
whether or not in the ordinary course of business, and whether or not entered into directly or 
indirectly (through one or more interposed entities) would be considered interested person 
transaction. Rule 905 (1) states that an issuer must make an immediate announcement of any IPT of 
a value equal to, or more than, 3% of the group’s latest audited net tangible assets.

*Under Rule 906 (1) of the Listing Manual, an issuer must obtain shareholder approval for any 
interested person transaction of a value equal to, or more than 5% of the group’s latest audited 
net tangible assets or 5% of the group’s latest audited net tangible assets, when aggregated with 
other transactions entered into with the same interested person during the same fi nancial year. 
However, a transaction which has been approved by shareholders, or is the subject of aggregation 
with another transaction that has been approved by shareholders, need not be included in any 
subsequent aggregation.

*The Group’s last audited net tangible asset (“NTA”) was $73,572,000. 3% of NTA was $2.21million 
and 5% was $3.68million. Hence, the transactions have not passed the threshold provided by the 
Listing Manual.

*The AC of the Company has reviewed the said IPTs and is of the view that the IPTs are transacted 
on normal commercial terms and are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its 
minority shareholders.

Material Contracts

Saved as disclosed above, there was no material contract entered into by the Group 
involving the interests of Directors, CEO or shareholders subsisting at the end of the 
fi nancial year ended 31 December 2013 or entered into at the end of the previous 
fi nancial year. 

Dealings in Securities

The Group has in place an internal code of conduct on securities transactions for 
Directors and employees when they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive 
information on the Company’s securities.

The Group’s “black-out” policy is in accordance with that prescribed by Rule 1207(19) 
of the Listing Manual in that Directors and employees are advised not to deal in 
the Company’s securities during the period commencing two weeks before the 
announcement of each of the Group’s quarterly fi nancial results and during the period 
of one month before the announcement of each of the Group’s full year results.  The 
black-out period ends on the date of the announcement of the relevant results.

Directors and employees are also reminded to be mindful of the law on insider trading 
and to ensure that their dealings in securities do not contravene the laws on insider 
trading under the Securities and Futures Act and the Companies Act. They are also 
reminded not to deal in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations. 
Annually, the Directors and key employees are requested to issue written confi rmation 
of their compliance with the Group’s internal code.

Use of Proceeds from Initial Public Offering

The total proceeds from the Rights Issue (proceeds from subscription, exercise of 
warrants and interest amount) were $10,074,440. The proceeds from the Rights Issue 
were fully utilised for working capital purposes, as indicated in separate announcements 
dated 2 August 2013 and 25 August 2011, for payments to trade creditors arising from 
purchase of materials and services. The use of proceeds is in accordance with the 
stated use in the offer information statement of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present their report together with the audited consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and statement 
of fi nancial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the fi nancial year ended December 31, 2013.

1 DIRECTORS

 The Directors of the Company in offi ce at the date of this report are:

 Michael Mun Hong Yew
 Martin Chia Heok Miin
 Philip Tan Tee Yong 
 Colin Ng Teck Sim
 Khoo Ho Tong
 Jeremy Mun Weng Hung

2 AUDIT COMMITTEE

 The Board has adopted the principles as described in the Code of Corporate Governance formulated by the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) with regards to the Audit Committee.  The members of 
the Audit Committee of the Company at the date of this report are as follows:

 Philip Tan Tee Yong (Chairman and Independent Director)
 Colin Ng Teck Sim (Non-Executive Independent Director)
 Khoo Ho Tong (Non-Executive Independent Director)

 The Audit Committee met three times since the last Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) and reviewed the following, 
where relevant, with the Executive Directors, the External Auditors and Internal Auditor of the Company:

(a) the audit plans and results of the Internal Auditor’s examination and evaluation of the Group’s systems of 
internal accounting controls;

(b) the Group’s fi nancial and operating results and accounting policies;

(c) the fi nancial statements of the Company and the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group before their 
submission to the Directors of the Company and the External Auditors’ report on those fi nancial statements;

(d) the quarterly, half yearly and annual announcements as well as the related press releases on the results and 
fi nancial position of the Company and the Group;

(e) the co-operation and assistance given by management to the Group’s External Auditors and Internal Auditor;

(f) interested person transactions; and

(g) the re-appointment of the External Auditors of the Group.

 
 The Audit Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of management and has been given the resources 

required for it to discharge its function properly.  It also has full discretion to invite any Director or management to 
attend its meetings.  The External Auditors and Internal Auditor have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

2 AUDIT COMMITTEE (cont’d)

 The Audit Committee has recommended to the Directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for re-appointment 
as External Auditors of the Group at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

3 BOARD OPINION ON THE ADEQUACY OF INTERNAL CONTROLS ADDRESSING FINANCIAL, OPERATIONAL AND 
COMPLIANCE RISKS

 Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the Group’s Internal 
Auditor and reviews performed by the Management, various Board Committees and the Board, the Audit Committee 
and the Board are of the opinion that the Group’s internal controls, addressing fi nancial, operational and compliance 
risks were adequate and effective as at December 31, 2013.

 The Group has a system of internal controls and risk management which provide a reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance that the Group will not be adversely affected by any occurrence that can be reasonably foreseen as it 
endeavours to attain its business goals and objectives. Nevertheless, the Board is also aware of the fact that no system 
of internal controls and risk management can provide absolute assurance in this regard or against the occurrence of 
human errors, poor judgement in decision-making, losses, fraud or any other irregularities.

4 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES 
AND DEBENTURES

 Neither at the end of the fi nancial year nor at any time during the fi nancial year did there subsist any arrangement 
whose object is to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefi ts by means of the acquisition of shares 
or debentures in the Company or any other body corporate except for the Aztech Group Employee Share Option 
Scheme 2000 (“ESOS 2000”) as detailed in paragraphs 5 and 7 of the Report of the Directors.

5 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

 The Directors of the Company holding offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year had no interests in the share capital and 
debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the register of Directors’ shareholdings kept by 
the Company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act except as follows:

     Shareholdings in which
 Names of Directors and companies Shareholdings registered Directors are deemed
 in which interests are held               in names of Directors to have an interest    

 At beginning At end At beginning At end
     of year     of year     of year     of year
 
  The Company
  - Aztech Group Ltd
  (Ordinary shares)

  Michael Mun Hong Yew 116,305,663 116,305,663 3,636,000 3,636,000
  Jeremy Mun Weng Hung 1,044,000 1,044,000       - -       
  Martin Chia Heok Miin 3,826,000 3,826,000 22,000 22,000
  Khoo Ho Tong 806,000 806,000       - -       
  Philip Tan Tee Yong 600,000 600,000       - -       
  Colin Ng Teck Sim 768,000 768,000 120,000 120,000
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5 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES (cont’d)

  
  Names of Directors and companies  Options to subscribe for
  in which interests are held    ordinary shares

   At beginning At end
   of year     of year

  The Company 
  - Aztech Group Ltd            

  ESOS 2000 

  Martin Chia Heok Miin 1,095,833 - 

  By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Michael Mun Hong Yew is deemed to have an interest in the 
Company and in all the subsidiaries of the Company.

 The Directors’ interests as at January 21, 2014 were the same as those as at December 31, 2013.

6 DIRECTORS’ RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

 Since the beginning of the fi nancial year, no Director has received or become entitled to receive a benefi t which is 
required to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a contract made by 
the Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a fi rm of which he is a member, or with a company 
in which he has a substantial fi nancial interest except for salaries, bonuses and other benefi ts as disclosed in the 
fi nancial statements and the Profi t Sharing Scheme (“Scheme”) as described below and as disclosed in the fi nancial 
statements.

 Certain Directors received remuneration from related corporations in their capacity as Directors and/or executives of 
those related corporations.

 There were certain transactions (as shown in Note 6 to the fi nancial statements) with corporations in which certain 
Directors have an interest.

 Directors’ Profi t Sharing Scheme

 The Company has entered into the Scheme, which was recommended by the Remuneration Committee and 
approved by the Board of Directors, with the following Directors of the Company:

 Michael Mun Hong Yew
 Martin Chia Heok Miin
 Jeremy Mun Weng Hung

 For Michael Mun Hong Yew

 In accordance with the Scheme, Michael Mun Hong Yew is entitled to profi t share based on the amount of the 
audited consolidated profi t after tax (“PAT”), as computed in the following manner:

(i) When PAT is equal to or exceeds $5 million (“Minimum Profi t”) but less than $10 million, the amount shall be 
equal to 1.2% of the PAT;

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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6 DIRECTORS’ RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS (cont’d)

(ii) When PAT is equal to or exceeds $10 million but is less than $15 million, the amount shall be equal to 1.6% of 
the PAT; and

(iii) When the PAT is equal to or exceeds $15 million, the amount shall be 2.0% of the PAT.

 For Martin Chia Heok Miin and Jeremy Mun Weng Hung

 In accordance with the Scheme, Martin Chia Heok Miin and Jeremy Mun Weng Hung and others are entitled to share 
in the Profi t Sharing Pool (“Pool”), based on the amount of PAT, as computed in the following manner:

(i) When PAT is equal to or exceeds Minimum Profi t, but less than $10 million, the Pool shall be equal to 1.8% of 
the PAT;

(ii) When PAT is equal to or exceeds $10 million but is less than $15 million, the Pool shall be equal to 2.4% of the 
PAT; and

(iii) When the PAT is equal to or exceeds $15 million, the Pool shall be 3.0% of the PAT.

 Under the Scheme, the Remuneration Committee shall review and recommend their respective share of the Pool 
to be allocated to the abovementioned Directors.   The actual amount payable to them shall be deliberated and 
decided by the Board of Directors.

 For the fi nancial year ended December 31, 2013, $195,000 was accrued pursuant to the Scheme. No accrual was 
made in 2012. 

7 SHARE OPTIONS

 AZTECH GROUP EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION SCHEME 2000 (“ESOS 2000”)

(a) Names of the Members of the Committee Administering ESOS 2000

 ESOS 2000 was approved and adopted at the Company’s Extraordinary General Meeting held on March 10, 
2000 and expired during the fi nancial year on March 9, 2010.  ESOS 2000 is administered by the Remuneration 
Committee comprising the following members:

Khoo Ho Tong (Chairman)
Philip Tan Tee Yong
Colin Ng Teck Sim

Participants who are members of the Committee were not involved in the deliberations in respect of options 
granted to that participant.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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7 SHARE OPTIONS (cont’d)

(b) Outstanding options

  The number of Shares available under the Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the issued share capital of the 
Company.  The number of outstanding share options under the scheme is as follows:
         
           Number
     Rights   Number of options
   Number  share  Number of options outstanding as at
Date options  Offer price of options issue  of options lapsed/ December 31,
granted    Exercise period per option (1) (5)   granted   adjustment (5) exercised cancelled 2013        

August 28,  August 29, $0.185 (4) 2,000,000 143,749 500,000 1,643,749       -         
2008 2009 to
 August 28, 2013

August 28,  August 29, $0.160 (“A”) 6,750,000 584,576 509,583 6,824,993       -         
2008 2009 to
 August 28, 2013 $0.128 (“B”)                                                                                     
   8,750,000 728,325 1,009,583 8,468,742        -         

  Holders of the above share options have no right to participate in any share issue of any other company and 
no employee or employee of related corporations has received 5% or more of the total options available 
under ESOS 2000, except as detailed below.

  There are no options granted to any of the Company’s controlling shareholders or their associates (as defi ned 
in the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Listing Manual), except as detailed below:

Note: (1) “A” - Option Price that is applicable if option exercised after the 1st anniversary of the date of 
the acceptance of the offer but before the 2nd anniversary of the date of the acceptance of the 
offer.  Option Price A is fi nalised based on the average of the last dealt prices per share of the 
Company on the SGX-ST for the period of fi ve (5) consecutive market days prior to the date the 
option is offered.

  “B” - Option Price that is applicable if option exercised after the 2nd anniversary of the date 
of the acceptance of the offer but before the expiry of sixty (60) months from the date of the 
acceptance of the offer.

 (2) All options granted under ESOS 2000 (Price “B”) were granted at a discount of 20%.

 (3) Each option entitles participants to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company.

 (4) The grant price of options to Executive Director is the higher of:

(i) the average of the last dealt prices per share of the company on the SGX-ST for the 
period of fi ve (5) consecutive market days immediately prior to the date of offer or

(ii) the Group’s net tangible asset per share as determined from the Group’s latest audited 
consolidated fi nancial statements.

 (5) On November 24, 2009, due to the Rights cum Warrants issue exercise, the number and price 
of the existing share options were adjusted accordingly, and an additional 1,004,309 share 
options were granted.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS



A DYNAMIC CORPORATION

55

7 SHARE OPTIONS (cont’d)

(c) Participants who are Directors/controlling shareholder/associate of controlling shareholder/executives

   Aggregate Aggregate Aggregate 
   options options options Aggregate
 Options  granted since exercised since lapsed since options
 granted Rights commencement of commencement of commencement outstanding
 during the share scheme to end of scheme to end of of scheme to end as at end of
 fi nancial year issue December 31, December 31, of December 31, December 31,
Name of participant    under review    adjustment 2013 2013 2013 2013       

Directors of the Company

Michael Mun Hong Yew (1) (3) (4) - - 3,000,000 3,000,000 - -
Martin Chia Heok Miin (3)      -      143,749 5,242,500 2,898,000 2,488,249 -
Jeremy Mun Weng Hung (2) (4)      -           -      300,000 300,000 -              -
Khoo Ho Tong      -           -      500,000 500,000 - -
Colin Ng Teck Sim      -           -      500,000 500,000 -              -       
Philip Tan Tee Yong      -           -          500,000     500,000       -              -       

  -      143,749 10,042,500  7,698,000 2,488,249       -       

Note: (1) Michael Mun Hong Yew is also a controlling shareholder of the Company.

 (2) Jeremy Mun Weng Hung is the son of Michael Mun Hong Yew.

 (3) Participants received 5.0% or more of total available options.

 (4) Options granted to Michael Mun Hong Yew and Jeremy Mun Weng Hung were approved by 
resolution passed at the EGM of the Company dated April 12, 2004.

(d) Issue of shares under options

 During 2012 and 2013, no options to take up unissued shares of the Company and subsidiaries were granted 
and no shares were issued by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares of the Company or 
its subsidiaries. All outstanding options had expired on August 28, 2013 and as at the end of the fi nancial year, 
there were no unissued shares under option.
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8 WARRANTS

 On November 24, 2009, the Company allotted 81,272,000 rights shares with 81,272,000 warrants at an issue price 
of $0.125 for each rights share on the basis of one rights share with one warrant for every fi ve existing shares. Each 
warrant entitles the warrant holder to subscribe for one new ordinary share of the Company at an exercise price of 
$0.20 per share. The warrants have an exercise period of 3 years from November 24, 2009 to November 23, 2012.  In 
2012, 17,010 new ordinary shares were issued from the conversion of warrants.  The warrants expired on November 
23, 2012 and as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, there were no outstanding warrants.

9 AUDITORS

 The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

........................................…...
Michael Mun Hong Yew

........................................…...
Martin Chia Heok Miin

March 27, 2014
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In the opinion of the Directors, the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the statement of 
fi nancial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company as set out on pages 60 to 125 are 
drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 
December 31, 2013, and of the results, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group and changes in equity of the 
Company for the fi nancial year then ended and at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that 
the Company will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

...............................…..............
Michael Mun Hong Yew

...............................…..............
Martin Chia Heok Miin

March 27, 2014

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS
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Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying fi nancial statements of Aztech Group Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of fi nancial position of the Group and the statement of fi nancial 
position of the Company as at December 31, 2013, and the consolidated statement of profi t or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash fl ows of the Group and the statement of 
changes in equity of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information, as set out on pages 60 to 125.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of fi nancial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for devising 
and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls suffi cient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are 
recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profi t and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain 
accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of fi nancial statements that give a true and fair view in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the statement of fi nancial position and statement 
of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company 
as at December 31, 2013 and of the results, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group and changes in equity of the 
Company for the year ended on that date.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
AZTECH GROUP LTD
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries 
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the 
Act.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

March 27, 2014

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
AZTECH GROUP LTD
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 GROUP COMPANY
 Note 2013 2012 2013 2012
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 25,676   24,094 4,040    7,250
Trade receivables 8 43,229 24,996      -       -     
Other receivables and
   prepayments 9 5,413 4,513 2,274 1,819
Tax recoverable  29 189 1      -     
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets 15 722 5,499 719 5,499
Held for trading investments 14 1,441 1,816 1,441 1,816
Derivative fi nancial instruments 10 76 15      -       -     
Inventories 11   38,571   29,002      -        -     
Total current assets  115,157   90,124    8,475   16,384

Non-current assets
Trade receivables 8 864 1,689      -       -     
Other receivables and
   prepayments 9 1,449 663      -       -     
Investment in subsidiaries 12      -       -  84,516 83,488
Property, plant and equipment 13 52,225 51,029 631 205
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets 15 412 412 405 405
Deferred tax assets 16 2 3      -       -     
Intangible assets 17     3,463     3,517      -        -     
Total non-current assets    58,415   57,313   85,552   84,098

Total assets  173,572 147,437   94,027 100,482

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31, 2013
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 GROUP COMPANY
 Note 2013 2012 2013 2012
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities
Borrowings  18 49,336   33,488 3,543    3,420
Finance leases 19 117      -  20      -     
Trade payables 20 30,662 29,360      -       -     
Other payables 21 6,791 4,759 21,691 27,743
Derivative fi nancial instruments 10 234   131      -       -     
Income tax payable        263       251      -        -     
Total current liabilities    87,403  67,989   25,254   31,163

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 18 750    1,949      -       -     
Finance leases 19 436      -  79      -     
Deferred tax liabilities 16       335       410          2           2
Total non-current liabilities     1,521    2,359        81           2

Capital and reserves
Share capital 22 121,450 121,450 121,450 121,450
Treasury shares 23 (5,894) (5,894) (5,894) (5,894)
Foreign currency translation
   reserve  (9,561) (10,677)      -       -     
Employee share-based
   compensation reserve 24      -       613      -    613
Investment revaluation reserve  62     89 62   89
Accumulated losses   (21,409)  (28,492) (46,926)   (46,941)
Total equity    84,648   77,089   68,692   69,317

Total liabilities and equity  173,572 147,437   94,027 100,482

See accompanying notes to fi nancial statements.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (cont’d)
December 31, 2013
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 GROUP
 Note 2013 2012
  $’000 $’000

Revenue 25 241,146 223,605

Cost of sales  (209,383) (204,534)

Gross profi t  31,763 19,071

Other operating income 26 2,171 6,665

Selling and distribution costs  (6,243) (6,704)

Administrative expenses

   Impairment of vessels 13 (450)      -     

   Other administrative expenses  (18,465)  (16,435)

  (18,915) (16,435)

Finance costs 27   (1,270)   (1,351)

Profi t before income tax  7,506 1,246

Income tax 28   (1,036)   (1,016)

Net profi t for the year 29    6,470       230

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Items that may be reclassifi ed subsequently into profi t or loss

Exchange differences on translation of
   foreign operations  1,116 (3,256)

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets         (27)      -     

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net of tax     1,089   (3,256)

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year     7,559   (3,026)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended December 31, 2013
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 GROUP
 Note 2013 2012
  $’000 $’000

Profi t attributable to:

Owners of the Company     6,470       230

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:

Owners of the Company     7,559   (3,026)

Earnings per share (cents)

-  Basic 30      1.33 0.05

-  Diluted 30      1.33 0.05

See accompanying notes to fi nancial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended December 31, 2013
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended December 31, 2013
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (cont’d)
Year ended December 31, 2013
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 GROUP
 2013 2012
 $’000 $’000

Operating activities
 Profi t before income tax 7,506     1,246
 Adjustments for:
  Allowance for inventory obsolescence 386 141
  Allowance for doubtful debts 248      -     
  Depreciation 4,980 4,989
  Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (94) (152)
  Gain on disposal of held for trading investments (1)      -     
  Gain on disposal of available-for-sale fi nancial assets (74)      -     
  Impairment loss on vessels 450      -     
  Amortisation of intangible assets 2,458 2,554
  Fair value (gain) loss on derivative fi nancial instruments (979) 9
  Fair value loss (gain) on held for trading investments  125 (56)
  Write back on impairment on insurance recoverable (Note A)      - (177)
  Interest income (292) (389)
  Interest expense 888 1,013
  Net foreign exchange loss (gain)        822   (3,321)
 Operating cash fl ows before movements in working capital 16,423 5,857

  Trade receivables (16,932) 8,258
  Other receivables and prepayments (1,612) 2,611
  Inventories (9,008) (1,587)
  Trade payables 423 4,085
  Other payables     1,959    (2,965)
 Cash (used in) generated from operations (8,747) 16,259

 Interest paid (888) (1,013)
 Income tax paid       (959)       (622)
Net cash (used in) from operating activities  (10,594)   14,624

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended December 31, 2013
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 GROUP
 2013 2012
 $’000 $’000

Investing activities
 Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 294       172
 Purchase of available-for-sale fi nancial assets (3)  -     
 Purchase of held for trading investments      - (1,760)
 Purchase of held-to-maturity investments (Note B)      - (4,509)
 Net proceeds on disposal of available-for-sale fi nancial assets 4,827      -     
 Net proceeds on disposal of held for trading investments 251      -     
 Purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note C) (5,941) (3,962)
 Deferred development costs (2,404) (2,238)
 Interest received        292        389
 Proceeds from derivative fi nancial instruments     1,021         64
Net cash used in investing activities    (1,663)  (11,844)

Financing activities
 Repayment of obligations under fi nance leases (38)      -     
 Proceeds from bank borrowings 161,777 136,652
 Repayment of bank borrowings (148,297) (154,541)
 Exercise of warrants      - 3
 Purchase of treasury shares      - (19)
Net cash from (used in) fi nancing activities   13,442  (17,905)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     1,185  (15,125)

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash
   held in foreign currencies 397 (684)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   24,094   39,903
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 7)   25,676   24,094

Note A

In 2012, the Group had recovered the insurance claim from the insurers and wrote back impairment loss on insurance 
receivable of $177,000, which was provided for in previous years.

Note B

In 2012, the Group had reclassed all bonds initially classifi ed as held-to-maturity investments to available-for-sale fi nancial 
assets as the Group did not have a positive intent to hold these bonds to maturity. 

Note C

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of $6,532,000 of which $591,000 
was acquired by means of fi nance leases. Cash payments of $5,941,000 were made to purchase the property, plant and 
equipment.

See accompanying notes to fi nancial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (cont’d)
Year ended December 31, 2013
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013

1 GENERAL

 The Company (Registration No. 1986-01642-R) is incorporated in Singapore with its principal place of business and 
registered offi ce at 31 Ubi Road 1, Aztech Building, Singapore 408694. The Company is listed on the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited.  The fi nancial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars and all values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand ($’000) unless otherwise indicated.

 The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

 The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 12 to the fi nancial statements.

 The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the statement of fi nancial position and statement of changes 
in equity of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2013 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 
on March 27, 2014.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis, 
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the 
Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes 
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take into account when 
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in 
these consolidated fi nancial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions 
that are within the scope of FRS 102, leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 17, and measurements that 
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in FRS 2 or value in use in FRS 
36.

 In addition, for fi nancial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on 
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the signifi cance of the inputs to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity 
can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - On January 1, 2013, the Group adopted all the new and revised 
FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are effective from that date and are relevant to its operations.  
The adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the Group’s and Company’s 
accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years except as 
disclosed below:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 

 The Group has applied the amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income retrospectively 
for the fi rst time in the current year, and renamed the ‘statement of comprehensive income’ as the ‘statement of 
profi t or loss and other comprehensive income’. Under the amendments to FRS 1, the Group also grouped items 
of other comprehensive income into two categories in the other comprehensive income section: (a) items that will 
not be reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or loss and (b) items that may be reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or 
loss when specifi c conditions are met. Other than the above mentioned presentation changes, the application of 
the amendments to FRS 1 does not result in any impact on profi t or loss, other comprehensive income and total 
comprehensive income.

 Amendments to FRS 107 Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

 The Group has applied the amendments to FRS 107 Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
for the fi rst time in the current year. The amendments to FRS 107 require entities to disclose information about the 
rights of offset and related arrangements (such as collateral posting requirements) for fi nancial instruments under an 
enforceable master netting agreement or similar arrangement.

 The application of the amendments has had no material impact on the amounts recognised in the consolidated 
fi nancial statements. At present as disclosed in Note 4(b) to the consolidated fi nancial statements, the Group does 
not have any master netting agreement or similar arrangement in place.

 FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

 The Group has applied FRS 113 for the fi rst time in the current year. FRS 113 establishes a single source of guidance for 
fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements. The fair value measurement requirements 
of FRS 113 apply to both fi nancial instrument items and non-fi nancial assets for which other FRSs require or permit fair 
value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements, except for share-based payment transactions 
that are within the scope of FRS 102 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 17 
Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value (e.g. net realisable value for 
the purposes of measuring inventories or value in use for impairment assessment purposes). 

 FRS 113 includes extensive disclosure requirements, although specifi c transitional provisions were given to entities 
such that they need not apply the disclosure requirements set out in the Standard in comparative information 
provided for periods before the initial application of the Standard. Consequently the Group has not made any new 
disclosures required by FRS 113 for the comparative period.

 Other than the additional disclosures, the application of FRS 113 has not had any material impact on the amounts 
recognised in the consolidated fi nancial statements.

 At the date of authorisation of these fi nancial statements, the following FRSs and amendments to FRS that are relevant 
to the Group and the Company were issued but not effective:

• FRS 27 (Revised) Separate Financial Statements
• FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements
• FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
• Amendments to FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements – Investment Entities
• FRS 110, FRS 111, FRS 112 Transition Guidance
• Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
• Amendments to FRS 36 Impairment of Assets
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

  FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements and FRS 27 Separate Financial Statements

 FRS 110 replaces the control assessment criteria and consolidation requirements currently in FRS 27 and INT FRS 12 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.

 FRS 110 defi nes the principle of control and establishes control as the basis for determining which entities are 
consolidated in the consolidated fi nancial statements. It also provides more extensive application guidance on 
assessing control based on voting rights or other contractual rights. Under FRS 110, control assessment will be based 
on whether an investor has (i) power over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the returns.  FRS 27 
remains as a standard applicable only to separate fi nancial statements.     

 FRS 110 will take effect from fi nancial years beginning on or after January 1, 2014, with retrospective application 
with transitional provisions.  The Group anticipates that the adoption of FRS 110 in future periods will not have any 
material impact on the fi nancial statements of the Group and of the Company in the period of initial adoption. 

 FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

 FRS 112 requires an entity to provide more extensive disclosures regarding the nature of and risks associated with its 
interest in subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements and unconsolidated structured entities.  

 FRS 112 will take effect from fi nancial years beginning on or after January 1, 2014.  Upon adoption of FRS 112, the 
Group expects expanded disclosures relating to its interests in subsidiaries. 

  Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

 The amendments to FRS 32 clarify existing application issues relating to the offsetting requirements. Specifi cally, the 
amendments clarify the meaning of ‘currently has a legal enforceable right of set-off’ and ‘simultaneous realisation 
and settlement’.

 The amendments to FRS 32 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014, with retrospective 
application required.

 The management is still evaluating the impact of the amendments to FRS 32 on the fi nancial assets and liabilities on 
the statement of fi nancial position.

  Amendments to FRS 36 Impairment of Assets

 The amendments to FRS 36 restrict the requirement to disclose the recoverable amount of an asset or cash 
generating unit (CGU) to periods in which an impairment loss has been recognised or reversed. The amendments 
also expand and clarify the disclosure requirements applicable when such asset or CGU’s recoverable amount has 
been determined on the basis of fair value less costs of disposal, such as the level of ‘fair value hierarchy’ within 
which the fair value measurement of the asset or CGU has been determined, and where the fair value measurements 
are at Level 2 or 3 of the fair value hierarchy, a description of the valuation techniques used and any changes in that 
valuation technique, key assumptions used including discount rate(s) used.

 Upon adoption of the amendments to FRS 36, the Group expects additional disclosures arising from any asset 
impairment loss or reversals, and where their respective recoverable amounts are determined based on fair value 
less cost of disposal.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 Other than those disclosed above, management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRSs and amendments 
to FRS in future periods will not have a material impact on the fi nancial statements of the Group and of the Company 
in the period of their initial adoption.

 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated fi nancial statements incorporate the fi nancial statements of the 
Company and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries).  Control is achieved where the Company has the 
power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefi ts from its activities.

 The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 
profi t or loss and other comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of 
disposal, as appropriate.

  Where necessary, adjustments are made to the fi nancial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

 All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

 Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identifi ed separately from the Group’s equity therein. The interest of non-
controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of 
the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured (at date of original business combination) 
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s 
identifi able net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other types 
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specifi ed in another FRS. 
Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial 
recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income 
is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a defi cit balance.

 Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions.  The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to refl ect 
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

  When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profi t or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between 
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the 
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling 
interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted 
for (i.e. reclassifi ed to profi t or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner as would be 
required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.    The fair value of any investment retained in the 
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent 
accounting under FRS 39 Financial Instruments:   Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on 
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.

 In the Company’s fi nancial statements, investment in subsidiaries is carried at cost less any impairment in net 
recoverable value that has been recognised in profi t or loss.

 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS - Acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition 
method.  The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition date fair values of 
assets given, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree, and equity interests issued by the 
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profi t or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

  Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values are 
adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments (see below). The 
subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement 
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classifi ed. Contingent consideration that is 
classifi ed as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted 
for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classifi ed as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent 
reporting dates in accordance with FRS 39 Financial Instruments:  Recognition and Measurement, or FRS 37 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised 
in profi t or loss.

 Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity are 
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or 
loss, if any, is recognised in profi t or loss.  Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date 
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassifi ed to profi t or loss, where such 
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

 The acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under 
the FRS are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefi t arrangements are 
recognised and measured in accordance with FRS 12 Income Taxes and FRS 19 Employee Benefi ts respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement 
of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards transactions with share-based payment awards transactions of 
the acquirer in accordance with the method in FRS 102 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classifi ed as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

 If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), or additional assets or liabilities 
are recognised, to refl ect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition 
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

 The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete 
information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date - and is subject to a maximum of 
one year from acquisition date.

 The accounting policy for initial measurement of non-controlling interests is described above.

 The policy described above is applied to all business combinations that take place on or after January 1, 2010. 

 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s statement of 
fi nancial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 Effective interest method

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a fi nancial instrument and of allocating 
interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part 
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
fi nancial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period.  Income and expense is recognised on an effective 
interest basis for debt instruments other than those fi nancial instruments “at fair value through profi t or loss”.
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 Financial assets

 All fi nancial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an 
investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by 
the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those fi nancial assets 
classifi ed as at fair value through profi t or loss which are initially measured at fair value.

 Financial assets are classifi ed into the following specifi ed categories: fi nancial assets “at fair value through profi t or 
loss”, “available-for-sale” fi nancial assets and “loans and receivables”.  The classifi cation depends on the nature and 
purpose of fi nancial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

 Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss (FVTPL)

 Financial assets are classifi ed as at FVTPL where the fi nancial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at 
FVTPL.

  A fi nancial asset is classifi ed as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

• on initial recognition, it is a part of an identifi ed portfolio of fi nancial instruments that the Group manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profi t-taking; or 

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument. 

 A fi nancial asset other than a fi nancial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition 
if:

• such designation eliminates or signifi cantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
otherwise arise; or 

• the fi nancial asset forms part of a group of fi nancial assets or fi nancial liabilities or both, which is managed 
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk 
management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; 
or

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and FRS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at 
FVTPL.

 Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised 
in profi t or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profi t or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the 
fi nancial asset. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.

  Available-for-sale fi nancial assets

 Investments in club memberships and quoted debts securities held by the Group are classifi ed as being available 
for sale and are stated at fair value.  Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.  Gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income (revaluation reserve) with the 
exception of impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective interest method and foreign exchange gains 
and loss on monetary assets which are recognised directly in profi t or loss. Where the investment is disposed of or is 
determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
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 accumulated in the revaluation reserve is reclassifi ed to profi t or loss. The fair value of available-for-sale monetary 
assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at 
the end of the reporting period. The change in fair value attributable to translation differences that result from a 
change in amortised cost of the available-for-sale monetary asset is recognised in profi t or loss, and other changes 
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

 Loans and receivables

 Trade and other receivables that have fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are 
classifi ed as “loans and receivables”.    Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method less impairment.  Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest method, except for short-
term receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial.

 Impairment of fi nancial assets

 Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profi t or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the 
end of each reporting period.  Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, 
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the fi nancial asset, the estimated future 
cash fl ows of the investment have been impacted.

 For available-for-sale equity instruments, a signifi cant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below 
its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

 For all other fi nancial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

• signifi cant fi nancial diffi culty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or fi nancial re-organisation.

 For certain categories of fi nancial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired 
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis.  Objective evidence of impairment for a 
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number 
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable changes in national or 
local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

 For fi nancial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash fl ows, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate.

 The carrying amount of the fi nancial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all fi nancial assets with the 
exception of trade and other receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account.  When trade and other receivables are uncollectible, they are written off against the allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the 
carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profi t or loss.

 For fi nancial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, 
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profi t or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of 
the fi nancial asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been 
had the impairment not been recognised.
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  When an available-for-sale fi nancial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassifi ed to profi t or loss. 

 In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, impairment losses previously recognised in profi t or loss are not 
reversed through profi t or loss.   Any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment loss is recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation reserves. In respect of 
available-for-sale debt securities, impairment losses are subsequently reversed through profi t or loss if an increase 
in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the 
impairment loss.

 Derecognition of fi nancial assets

 The Group derecognises a fi nancial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash fl ows from the asset expire, or 
it transfers the fi nancial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.  If 
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control 
the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts 
it may have to pay.  If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred fi nancial 
asset, the Group continues to recognise the fi nancial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received.

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments

 Classifi cation as debt or equity

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classifi ed according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered into and the defi nitions of a fi nancial liability and an equity instrument.

 Equity instruments

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all 
of its liabilities.  Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

 Treasury shares

  When the Company purchases its ordinary shares (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any directly 
attributable incremental costs, net of income taxes, is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s owners 
and presented as “treasury shares” within equity, until they are cancelled, sold or reissued.

 When treasury shares are subsequently sold or reissued, the cost of the treasury shares is reversed from the treasury 
shares account and the realised gain or loss on sale or reissue, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction 
costs and related income tax, is recognised in the share capital of the Company.

 Warrants

 Proceeds from the issuance of warrants are credited to the warrant reserve.  When the warrants are exercised, the 
value of such warrants exercised standing to the credit of the warrant reserve account will be transferred to the 
share capital account.  At the expiry of the warrants, the balance in the warrant reserve will be transferred to retained 
earnings.

 Financial liabilities

 Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.
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 Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with 
the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see below).

 Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not designated as at fair value 
through profi t or loss (FVTPL), subsequently at the higher of the amount of obligation under the contract recognised 
as a provision in accordance with FRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount 
initially recognised less cumulative amortisation in accordance with FRS 18 Revenue.

 Derecognition of fi nancial liabilities

 The Group derecognises fi nancial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or they expire.

 Derivative fi nancial instruments

 The Group enters into foreign currency forward contracts to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate 
risk.  Further details of derivative fi nancial instruments are disclosed in Note 10 to the fi nancial statements.

 Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.  The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profi t 
or loss immediately.

 A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument 
is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are 
presented as current assets or current liabilities.

 INVENTORIES - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost comprises direct materials 
and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present location and condition.  Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.  Net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, 
selling and distribution.

 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated impairment losses.

 Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line 
method, on the following bases:

 Leasehold property - over the terms of lease, which are from
       1.75% to 4%
 Computer and offi ce equipments - 20% to 33.33%
 Factory equipments - 12.5% to 20%
 Factory furniture and fi ttings - 20%
 Vessels - 4% to 7%
 Dry-docking expenditure - 20%
 Assets on board of the vessels - 33.33%
 Offi ce furniture and fi ttings - 20%
 Research and development equipment and tools - 20% to 33.33%
 Software applications - 20% to 33.33%
 Motor vehicles - 20%
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  Vessel component costs include the cost of major components which are usually replaced or renewed in connection 
with a dry-docking when a vessel is delivered.   The assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.  The vessel component costs are depreciated over the estimated period to the fi rst 
dry docking.  The Group subsequently capitalises dry docking costs as they are incurred and depreciates these costs 
over their estimated useful lives.

 The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

 Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the fi nancial statements.

 Assets held under fi nance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets 
or, if there is no certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset shall be fully 
depreciated over the short of the lease term and its useful life.

 The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in profi t or loss.

 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure

 Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

 An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal 
project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

• the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefi ts;

• the availability of adequate technical, fi nancial and other resources to complete the development and to use 
or sell the intangible asset; and

• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

 The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred 
from the date when the intangible asset fi rst meets the recognition criteria listed above.  Development costs that 
have been capitalised as intangible assets are amortised from the commencement of the commercial production 
on a straight-line basis over the period of its expected benefi ts, which normally does not exceed 3 years. Where no 
internally-generated asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged to profi t or loss in the period in 
which it is incurred.

 Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
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 IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL - At the end of each reporting 
period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there 
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).   Where it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 Intangible assets with indefi nite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash fl ows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that refl ects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash fl ows have not been adjusted.

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profi t or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-
generating unit) in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profi t or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation increase.

 PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  Where 
a provision is measured using the cash fl ows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash fl ows.

 When some or all of the economic benefi ts required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

 LEASES - Leases are classifi ed as fi nance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee.  All other leases are classifi ed as operating leases.

 The Group as lessor

 Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease unless 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use benefi t derived from the leased 
asset is diminished.  Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease 
income.
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 Rental income from subletting arrangements is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

 The Group as lessee

 Assets held under fi nance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease 
or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included 
in the statement of fi nancial position as a fi nance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between fi nance 
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to profi t or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying 
assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see 
below). 

 Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profi t or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefi ts 
from the leased asset are consumed. 

 In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a 
liability.  The aggregate benefi t of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, 
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefi ts from 
the leased asset are consumed.

 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS - The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees.

 Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value of the equity instruments at the date of grant.  Details 
regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in Note 24.  The 
fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of the number of equity instruments that will eventually 
vest.    At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments 
expected to vest.  The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profi t or loss such that 
the cumulative expense refl ects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-based 
compensation reserve.

 The policy described above is applied to all equity-settled share-based payments that were granted after November 
22, 2002, that vested after January 1, 2005.  No amount has been recognised in the fi nancial statements in respect of 
other equity-settled share-based payments.

 Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value 
of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are 
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or 
the counterparty renders the service.

 REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  
Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

 Sale of electronics and food products and supply of construction materials

 Revenue from the sale of electronics and food products and supply of construction materials is recognised when all 
the following conditions are satisfi ed:

• the Group has transferred to the buyer the signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
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• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership 
nor effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefi ts associated with the transaction will fl ow to the Group; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

 Marine logistic services

 Revenue from marine logistic services is recognised as and when services are rendered.

 Interest income

 Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate 
applicable.

 Rental income

 The Group’s policy for recognition of rental income from operating leases is described above.

 Dividend income

 Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been 
established.

 BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of 
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended 
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale.  Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specifi c borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profi t or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS - Payments to defi ned contribution retirement benefi t plans are charged as an 
expense when employees have rendered the services entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-
managed retirement benefi t schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to 
defi ned contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defi ned 
contribution retirement benefi t plan.

 PROFIT SHARING SCHEME - Certain Directors are entitled to a share of the profi t under the profi t sharing scheme as 
disclosed in the Directors’ Report. A provision is made for the estimated liability under the profi t sharing scheme.

 EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employees entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue 
to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the end of the reporting period. 

 INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
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 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profi t for the year. Taxable profi t differs from profi t as reported in the 
statement of profi t or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted in 
countries where the Company and subsidiaries operate by the end of the reporting period.

 Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the  fi nancial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profi t.  Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profi ts will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither 
the taxable profi t nor the accounting profi t.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except 
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences 
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be 
suffi cient taxable profi ts against which to utilise the benefi ts of the temporary differences and they are expected to 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that suffi cient taxable profi ts will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 
recovered.

 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the 
asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets refl ects the tax consequences that 
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

 Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profi t or loss, except when they relate to items 
credited or debited outside profi t or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which case 
the tax is also recognised directly outside profi t or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively), or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business 
combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s 
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual fi nancial statements of each Group entity 
are measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its 
functional currency).  The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group, the statement of fi nancial position and the 
statement of changes in equity of the Company are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency 
of the Company and the presentation currency for the consolidated fi nancial statements.

 In preparing the fi nancial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 
functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction.  At the end of each 
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the 
end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are 
included in profi t or loss for the period.  Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items 
carried at fair value are included in profi t or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation 
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income.  For 
such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

 For the purpose of presenting consolidated fi nancial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Singapore dollars using exchange rates prevailing at the 
end of the reporting period. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fl uctuated signifi cantly during that period, in which case the 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of foreign currency 
translation reserve.

 On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a 
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), all of the accumulated exchange 
differences in respect of that operation attributable to the Group are reclassifi ed to profi t or loss.   Any exchange 
differences that have previously been attributed to non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not 
reclassifi ed to profi t or loss.

 In the case of a partial disposal (i.e. no loss of control) of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the 
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not 
recognised in profi t or loss.

 On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities 
(including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities) are recognised 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of foreign 
currency translation reserve.

 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - Cash and cash equivalents in the statement 
of cash fl ows comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes in value.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

 In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (cont’d)

 Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

 The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that management has 
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most signifi cant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements.

 Land use rights certifi cates

 As at December 31, 2013, the Group’s production facilities in China are located on plots of land of which land use 
rights certifi cates have not been obtained. Management has continued to follow up with the relevant local authorities 
and is of the opinion that the required certifi cates will be obtained in the near future. Further details on the land use 
rights are disclosed in Note 13 to the fi nancial statements.

  Income taxes

 The subsidiaries within the Group operate in a number of jurisdictions. Signifi cant assumptions are required in 
determining the provision for income taxes based on the tax laws and regulations in those jurisdictions. There are 
certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the fi nal tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact 
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. Taxation is disclosed 
in Notes 16 and 28 to the fi nancial statements.

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next fi nancial year, are discussed below.

 Estimated impairment of deferred development costs

 Determining whether deferred development cost is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the 
development projects.  The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash fl ows expected to 
arise from such projects, and a suitable discount rate and growth rate in order to calculate the present value.  Where 
the actual future cash fl ows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.    For the year ended 
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, no impairment loss has been recognised and as at December 31, 
2013, the carrying amount of deferred development cost is $3,463,000 (2012 : $3,517,000).

 Estimated impairment of receivables

 When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group takes into consideration the estimation of future 
cash fl ows.  The amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash fl ows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the fi nancial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial 
recognition).  Where the actual future cash fl ows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.  As at 
December 31, 2013, the carrying amount of trade receivables is $44,093,000 (2012 : $26,685,000), net of allowance 
for doubtful debts of $726,000 (2012 : $466,000).

 Estimated allowance for inventories

 At the end of the reporting period, management carries out a review on a product-by-product and on an aging 
basis to make allowance for obsolete, slow-moving and expired inventory items.  The management estimates the 
net realisable value for such inventory items based primarily on the current market conditions.  As at December 31, 
2013, the carrying amount of inventories is $38,571,000 (2012 : $29,002,000), net of allowance for inventories of 
$1,823,000 (2012 : $1,428,000).
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (cont’d)

 Estimated impairment in value of investment in subsidiaries

 Determining whether investment in subsidiaries is impaired involves the consideration of the performance of the 
subsidiaries and the market conditions in which the subsidiaries operate in. At the end of the reporting period, 
the management of the Company has performed an impairment assessment of its investment in its subsidiaries. As 
at December 31, 2013, the allowance for impairment loss is $11,445,000 (2012 : $11,270,000).

 If the performance of the subsidiaries and/or market conditions were to deteriorate additional impairment may be 
required.

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

 The Group depreciates its property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives, after taking into account 
their estimated residual value using the straight-line method.  The estimated useful life refl ects the management’s 
estimate of the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic benefi ts from the use of the Group’s 
property, plant and equipment. The residual values refl ect the management’s estimated amount that the Group 
would currently obtain from disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated costs of disposal, if the assets were 
already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.  As at December 31, 2013, the carrying 
amount of property, plant and equipment is $52,225,000 (2012 : $51,029,000).

 Estimated service life, scrap value and recoverable amount of vessels

 The estimated service life and scrap value of the vessels are assessed annually and adjusted if necessary.  Irrespective 
of indications of impairment, the recoverable values of vessels are determined at least annually based on an 
independent valuer’s valuations and calculated value in use. Signifi cant changes in the estimated service life and 
scrap values and the result of the impairment test of vessels may have an impact on operating income. The carrying 
amount of vessels is disclosed in Note 13.

 The Group carried out a review of the recoverable amounts of the vessels in the current fi nancial year. The results 
of the impairment assessment led to an additional impairment loss of $450,000 (2012 : $Nil). The fair values less 
costs to sell of the vessels were estimated based on the calculations of an independent valuer. As at December 31, 
2013, the carrying amounts of vessels, dry docking expenditures and assets on board of the vessels are $39,353,000
(2012 : $41,617,000).

 Fair value measurements and valuation processes

 Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for fi nancial reporting purposes.

 In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. 
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualifi ed valuers to perform the valuation. 
Management works closely with the qualifi ed external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and 
inputs to the model.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

(a)  Categories of fi nancial instruments

The following table sets out the fi nancial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

  GROUP   COMPANY
 2013  2012 2013  2012
 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000
Financial assets

Fair value through profi t or loss:
- Held for trading 1,441     1,816 1,441 1,816
- Derivative fi nancial instruments 76 15 -      -     
Loans and receivables
   (including cash and 
    cash equivalents) 72,889 54,796 6,263 8,944
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets   1,134   5,911   1,124   5,904

Financial liabilities
Fair value through profi t or loss:
- Derivative fi nancial instruments 234 131 -      -     
Amortised cost
   (including loans and
    fi nance leases) 86,755 68,956 25,333 31,163

(b) Financial instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements

  The Group and the Company do not have any fi nancial instruments which are subject to offsetting, enforceable 
master netting arrangements or similar netting agreements.

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives

  The Group has a system of controls in place to create an acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring 
and the cost of managing the risks.  Management continually monitors the Group’s risk management process 
to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved.  Risk management policies and 
systems are reviewed regularly to refl ect changes in market conditions and the Group activities.

  The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management 
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks 
faced by the Group. The Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit.  Internal Audit 
undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management control and procedures, the results of which 
are reported to the Audit Committee.

  There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these fi nancial risks or the manner in which it manages 
and measures the risk.  Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below:

(i) Foreign exchange risk management

 The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated 
in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities.  The currency that gives 
rise to this risk is primarily United States dollars.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(i) Foreign exchange risk management (cont’d)

The Group manages foreign currency risk by matching assets and liabilities in the same currency 
denomination and supplemented with appropriate fi nancial instruments where necessary.  The Group 
uses derivative fi nancial instruments to mitigate the fi nancial impact associated with foreign currency 
fl uctuation relating to certain forecasted transactions.

The carrying amounts of foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities 
denominated in currencies other than the respective Group entities’ functional currencies at the end 
of the reporting period are as follows:

 GROUP COMPANY
 Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets

 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Singapore dollars 8,021 5,135 3,020      1,232    - - - -  
Renminbi 103 56 48 2,750    - - - -  
Hong Kong dollars 4,835 3,430 - 2    - - - -  
United States dollars 47,245 46,149 27,401 25,374 6,162 5,951 1,009 170

 Foreign currency sensitivity

 The following analyses detail the sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in the Singapore dollar 
against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency 
risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the possible 
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency 
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 5% change in foreign 
currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations 
within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the currency of the 
lender or the borrower.

 If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 5% against the functional currency of each Group entity, 
the effect on profi t or loss will increase (decrease) by:

    GROUP     COMPANY
  2013  2012  2013  2012
  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Singapore dollars 250 195 - -
Renminbi 3 (135) - -  
Hong Kong dollars 242 171 - -  
United States dollars 992 1,039 258 289

If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 5% against the functional currency of each Group entity, 
the above will have an opposite effect.

There are no signifi cant changes to the Group’s sensitivity to foreign currency during the current year 
when compared to 2012.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(ii) Interest rate risk management

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s 
debt obligations with fl oating interest rates.  The Group monitors the movements in interest rates on 
an ongoing basis and evaluates the exposure for its debt obligations.

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for cash 
and cash equivalents placed with and borrowing from banks and fi nancial institutions in Singapore, 
China and Hong Kong at the end of the reporting period.  

For fl oating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability 
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year.
A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key 
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change 
in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the 
Group’s:

• Profi t for the year ended December 31, 2013 would decrease/increase by $253,000 
(2012 : $177,000); and

• Other comprehensive income would increase/decrease by $4,000 (2012 : $27,000) mainly as at 
result of the changes in the fair value of available-for-sale variable rate instruments.

No analysis is prepared at the Company level as the impact is not expected to be material.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased during the current year mainly due to the increase 
in average bank borrowings.

(iii) Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
a fi nancial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted the policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of fi nancial losses from default. Credit risk is 
managed through the application of credit approvals, credit limits and monitoring procedures. Where 
appropriate, the Group obtains collateral from its customers.  Cash terms, advance payments and letter 
of credits are required for customers of lower credit standing. An allowance for impairment is made 
where there is an identifi ed loss event which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction 
in the recoverability of the cash fl ows.

As at December 31, 2013, 75.1% (2012 : 48.1%) of trade receivables for the Group relate to amounts due 
from fi ve (2012 : fi ve) major customers.  The Group manages concentration of credit risk by performing 
credit analysis procedures to assess the potential customers’ credit quality and defi nes credit limits by 
customer before offering credit term to any new customer.  The credit terms to customers are reviewed 
at least once a year.

The increase in the Group’s concentration of credit risk to the major customers is mainly due to 
the transactions with counterparties arising from the execution of the contracts for the supply of 
construction materials awarded during the year.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(iii) Credit risk management (cont’d)

The maximum amount the Company could be forced to settle under the corporate guarantee given to 
banks in connection with facilities utilised by the subsidiaries is $44,824,000 (2012 : $31,655,000).  The 
earliest period that the guarantee could be called is within 1 year (2012 : 1 year) from the end of the 
reporting period. Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, management considers 
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable. However, this estimate is subject to 
change depending on the probability of the banks claiming under the guarantee which is a function of 
the likelihood that the subsidiaries default on the repayment of the borrowings.

 The carrying amount of fi nancial assets recorded in the fi nancial statements, grossed up for any 
allowances for losses, and the exposure to defaults from fi nancial guarantees above, represents the 
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral 
obtained.

  
  The Group places its cash with creditworthy institutions.

(iv) Liquidity risk management

 Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash management, 
including the short term investment of cash surplus and the raising of loans to cover expected 
cash demand, subject to approval by the Company’s board when the borrowings exceed certain 
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements 
and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains suffi cient reserves of cash and 
adequate committed lines of funding from major fi nancial institutions to meet its liability requirements 
in the short and longer term.  Undrawn facilities are disclosed in Note 18 to the fi nancial statements.

 At the end of the reporting period, the Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by 
$16,779,000 (2012 : $14,779,000). As at December 31, 2013, the Company’s current liabilities of 
$25,254,000 (2012 : $31,163,000) include amount due to subsidiaries amounting to $20,995,000 
(2012 : $26,804,000). The Company is the ultimate holding company for all its subsidiaries and is able 
to meet its existing and prospective funding requirements through controlling the timing of repayment 
for these liabilities. Management is satisfi ed that the Company has the ability to operate as a going 
concern. 

 Liquidity and interest risk analyses

 Non-derivative fi nancial liabilities

 The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative fi nancial liabilities.  
The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash fl ows of fi nancial liabilities based on 
the earliest date on which the Group and the Company can be required to pay.  The table includes both 
interest and principal cash fl ows.   The adjustment column represents the possible future cash fl ows 
attributable to the instrument included in the maturity analysis which is not included in the carrying 
amount of the fi nancial liability on the statements of fi nancial position.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(iv) Liquidity risk management (cont’d)

 Non-derivative fi nancial liabilities (cont’d)

 Weighted On   
 average demand Within  
 effective or within 2 to After 
 interest rate   1 year   5 years 5 years Adjustment Total
 % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

GROUP

2013

Non-interest bearing - 36,116    -       -     -   36,116
Finance lease liability

(fi xed rate) 2.6 131 493   -   (71) 553
Bank loans 

(variable rate) 1.9 49,358    804   -   (301) 49,861
Bank loans (fi xed rate) 5.0 228 - - (3) 225
  85,833 1,297   -   (375) 86,755

2012

Non-interest bearing - 33,519    -       -     -   33,519
Bank loans 

(variable rate) 2.2 32,824 1,739   -   (211) 34,352
Bank loans (fi xed rate) 5.1 894 228 -  (37) 1,085
  67,237 1,967   -   (248) 68,956

COMPANY

2013

Non-interest bearing - 21,691    -       -     -   21,691
Finance lease liability

(fi xed rate) 2.6 22 90   -   (13) 99
Bank loans 

(variable rate) 2.3   3,556    -       -    (13)   3,543
  25,269      90   -    (26) 25,333

2012

Non-interest bearing - 27,743    -       -     -   27,743
Bank loans

(variable rate) 2.5   3,427    -       -     (7)   3,420
  31,170    -       -     (7) 31,163
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(iv) Liquidity risk management (cont’d)

Non-derivative fi nancial assets

The following table details the expected maturity for non-derivative fi nancial assets.  The tables below 
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the fi nancial assets including 
interest that will be earned on those assets except where the Group and the Company anticipates that 
the cash fl ow will occur in a different period. The adjustment column represents the possible future 
cash fl ows attributable to the instrument included in the maturity analysis which are not included in the 
carrying amount of the fi nancial asset on the statements of fi nancial position.

 Weighted On   
 average demand Within  
 effective or within 2 to After 
 interest rate   1 year   5 years 5 years Adjustment Total
 % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

GROUP

2013
Non-interest bearing - 69,109    864   -        -   69,973
Fixed deposits 0.2 2,916    -       -      -   2,916
  72,025    864   -   - 72,889

2012
Non-interest bearing - 44,779 1,689   -        -   46,468
Fixed deposits 0.2 8,331    -       -   (3) 8,328
  53,110 1,689   -   (3) 54,796

COMPANY

2013 
Non-interest bearing - 4,355 -      -   -   4,355
Fixed deposits 0.2 1,908 -      -   -   1,908
  6,263 - - - 6,263

2012 
Non-interest bearing - 2,183 -      -   -   2,183
Fixed deposits 0.2 6,762 -      -   (1) 6,761
  8,945 - - (1) 8,944

Derivative fi nancial instruments

  The Group’s derivative fi nancial instruments comprise of forward foreign exchange contracts as 
disclosed in Note 10 to the fi nancial statements. As at December 31, 2013, the contracted gross cash 
infl ow and gross cash outfl ow arising from these forward foreign exchange contracts amounting to 
$76,000 and $234,000 (2012 : $15,000 and $131,000) respectively. As disclosed in Note 10, the gross-
settled forward foreign exchange contracts are due within 1 year and 2 to 5 years (2012 : due within 1 
year and 2 to 5 years). 
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(v) Fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities

 The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables and payables 
and other liabilities approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity 
of these fi nancial instruments. In respect of the fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities recorded at 
amortised cost whose maturity is more than a year, management also considers that such fi nancial 
instruments approximate their fair values. The fair values of other classes of fi nancial assets and 
fi nancial liabilities are disclosed in the respective notes to the fi nancial statements.

 The fair values of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities are determined as follows:

• the fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and 
traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices;

• the fair value of other fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) 
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted 
cash fl ow analysis using prices from observable current markets transactions and dealer quotes 
for similar instruments; and

• the fair value of derivative fi nancial instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such 
prices are not available, discounted cash fl ow analysis is used, based on the applicable yield 
curve of the duration of the instruments for non-optional derivatives, and option pricing models 
for optional derivatives.

 Except as detailed in the following table, management considers that the carrying amounts of fi nancial 
assets and fi nancial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the fi nancial statements approximate their 
fair values:

  2013   2012
 Carrying  Fair Carrying  Fair
 amount    value   amount    value
 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000

GROUP

Financial liabilities

Bank loans (fi xed rate)   225    227 1,085  1,122

  The Group classifi es fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that refl ects the signifi cance 
of the inputs used in making the measurements. 
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(v) Fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities (cont’d)

Financial instruments measured at fair value

 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
 $’000 $’000  $’000  $’000
   
GROUP

2013

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value
   through profi t or loss:
-  Held for trading investments 1,441 1,441 - -
-  Derivative fi nancial instruments 76 - 76 -  
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets:
-  Club membership 412   -       412 -  
-  Quoted debt securities    722    722     - -  
Total 2,651 2,163    488   -  

Financial liabilities
Derivative fi nancial instruments    234     -        234   -  

2012

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value
   through profi t or loss:
-  Held for trading investments 1,816 1,816   -     -  
-  Derivative fi nancial instruments 15 -     15 -  
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets:
-  Club membership 412   -       412   -  
-  Quoted debt securities 5,499 5,499     -   -  
Total 7,742 7,315    427   -  

Financial liabilities
Derivative fi nancial instruments    131   -        131   -  
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(v) Fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities (cont’d)

Financial instruments measured at fair value (cont’d)

 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
 $’000 $’000  $’000  $’000

COMPANY

2013

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value
   through profi t or loss:
-  Held for trading investments 1,441 1,441 -     -  
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets:
-  Club membership 405 -     405 -   
-  Quoted debt securities    719    719    -       -  
Total 2,565 2,160    405   -  

2012

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value
   through profi t or loss:
-  Held for trading investments 1,816 1,816 -     -   
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets:
-  Club membership 405 -     405 -   
-  Quoted debt securities 5,499 5,499    -       -  
Total 7,720 7,315    405   -  

The fair values of Level 1 instruments were quoted bid prices in an active market. The fair values of 
Level 2 derivative instruments were estimated based on recent market transacted prices, as well as 
input from valuation experts using the Monte Carlo Simulation model. There were no transfers between 
Level 1, 2 and 3 of the fair value hierarchy in 2013 and 2012.

(d)  Capital risk management policies and objectives

  The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure to maximise shareholder value. In order to maintain or 
achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment, return capital 
to shareholders, issue new shares, buy back issued shares, obtain new borrowings or sell assets to reduce 
borrowings. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2012.

  Management monitors capital based on the Group’s current ratio and net gearing ratio. As at December 31, 
2013, the Group’s current ratio and net gearing ratio were 1.3 (2012 : 1.3) and 0.3 (2012 : 0.1) respectively. 



AZTECH ANNUAL REPORT 2013

94

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(d)  Capital risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

  The current ratio is calculated as total current assets divided by total current liabilities. 

  The net gearing ratio is calculated as net borrowings divided by shareholders’ funds. Net borrowings are 
calculated as total borrowings (Note 18) and fi nance leases (Note 19) less cash and bank balances (Note 7).

 
 Management also reviews fi nancial measures and position of the Group on a regular basis to monitor if the 

Group fulfi ls the fi nancial covenants prescribed in its banking facilities. The Group had obtained the waiver 
of non-compliance of these banking fi nancial covenants from the bank during the fi nancial year ended 
December 31, 2013 and 2012. As at December 31, 2013, the Group was in compliance with all externally 
imposed capital requirements.

5 RELATED COMPANY BALANCES

 Related companies in these fi nancial statements refer to the Company and subsidiaries. The intercompany balances 
are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable within the next twelve months unless stated otherwise.

6 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Michael Mun Hong Yew is deemed to have an interest 
in the Company and in all the subsidiaries of the Company.

 In accordance with FRS 24 Related Party Disclosures, the close members of the family of Michael Mun Hong 
Yew are considered to be related parties.

(b) Some of the Group’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis 
determined between the parties are refl ected in these fi nancial statements. Such related party transactions 
are reviewed by the Audit Committee. The balances with related parties are unsecured, interest-free and 
repayable within the next twelve months unless otherwise stated.

During the year, Group entities entered into the following transactions with related parties:

 GROUP
 2013 2012
 $’000 $’000

(1) Transaction with companies in which Michael Mun Hong Yew 
 and Jeremy Mun Weng Hung have equity interests:

Rental income   (14)      (95)
Sale of goods   (77) -    
Purchase of goods   22    5
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  1,105 -    
Transportation services      740    914
Disposal of property, plant and equipment  (136) -
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6 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d) 
 GROUP
 2013 2012
 $’000 $’000

(2) Salaries paid to employees of the Group who are relatives
 of Michael Mun Hong Yew and Jeremy Mun Weng Hung:

Salary expenses      165    106

(3) Transaction with companies in which an Independent Director
 has an interest:

Consulting and corporate secretarial services  18 12

 The Company has given corporate guarantees to its subsidiaries for loan and trade facilities. The total charge 
for this guarantee is $1,202,000 (2012 : $1,366,000). 

 Compensation of directors and key management personnel

 The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

    GROUP
   2013  2012
   $’000  $’000

 Short-term benefi ts 3,169 3,048

 The remuneration of Directors and key management is determined by the Remuneration Committee having 
regard to the performance of individuals.

7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
   GROUP COMPANY
   2013 2012 2013 2012
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Cash at bank and in hand 22,760 15,766 2,132     489
 Fixed deposits   2,916   8,328 1,908 6,761
 Cash and cash equivalents 25,676 24,094 4,040 7,250

 Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and the Company and short-term bank deposits with an 
original maturity of one month or less.  The carrying amounts of these assets approximate their fair values.

 Fixed deposits bear interest at a weighted average rate of 0.2% (2012 : 0.2%) per annum and for a tenure of 
approximately 17 days (2012 : 26 days).
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8 TRADE RECEIVABLES

   GROUP
  2013  2012
  $’000  $’000
 
 Current
 Outside parties 43,955  25,462
 Allowance for doubtful trade receivables (726) (466)
  43,229 24,996
 Non-current
 Outside parties 864 1,689
 Total 44,093 26,685

 
 The average credit period on sale of goods is 45 days (2012 : 30 days).  No interest is charged on the trade receivables.

 Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses both internal and external credit review systems to assess the 
potential customer’s credit quality and defi nes credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed 
once per year. As at December 31, 2013, 63.9% (2012 : 72.6%) of the trade receivables are neither past due nor 
impaired. There has not been a signifi cant change in the credit quality of the trade receivables that are not past due 
and not impaired. 

 The table below is an analysis of trade receivables as at December 31:
 
    GROUP
   2013  2012
   $’000  $’000

 Not past due and not impaired 28,647   19,713
 Past due but not impaired (i) 15,446   6,972
 Sub-total 44,093 26,685
 Impaired receivables – individually assessed
 -  Customers placed under liquidation 478 466
 -  Past due more than 12 months with
       no indication of intention to repay 248 -     
 Less:  Allowance for impairment (726) (466)
 Sub-total - -     

 Total trade receivables, net 44,093 26,685

(i) Aging of receivables that are past due but not impaired:

1 to 30 days 14,285 5,190
31 to 60 days 442 1,223
More than 60 days 719  559

   15,446   6,972

 Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $15.4 million (2012 : $6.97 
million) which are past due at the end of the reporting period for which the Group has not provided as there has not 
been a signifi cant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable.  The Group does not 
hold any collateral over these balances.  
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8 TRADE RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

 Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are specifi c trade receivables with a balance of $478,000 
(2012 : $466,000) relating to customers who have been placed in liquidation.  The impairment recognised represents 
the difference between the carrying amount of the specifi c trade receivable and present value of expected 
liquidation proceeds.  As at the end of the reporting period, total allowance for doubtful debts amounts to $726,000 
(2012 : $466,000), and the Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

 Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts:
   GROUP
     2013 2012
     $’000 $’000

 Balance at beginning of the year 466      493
 Allowance during the year 248     -   
 Exchange difference 12      (27)
 Balance at end of the year 726     466

 In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the 
trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the 
management believes that there is no further impairment required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.

9 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

   GROUP COMPANY
   2013 2012 2013 2012
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Other receivables 1,764 3,703 61     332
 Deposit 1,356 314 12 14
 Deposit for leasehold property 686 663    -        -    
 Advance to suppliers 370    -        -        -    
 Prepayments 2,686 496 51 125
 Subsidiaries (Notes 5 and 12) -     -     67,120 66,318
 Allowance for doubtful other
    receivables - subsidiaries    -        -     (64,970) (64,970)
   6,862 5,176 2,274 1,819

 Less: Non-current portion of deposits
    paid for leasehold property
    and prepayments of capital assets (1,449)  (663)      -          -    
   5,413 4,513   2,274   1,819

 
 The Group’s other receivables are interest-free and repayable on demand. The Group has not recognised any 

allowance for impairment on other receivables as management is of the view that these receivables are recoverable.

 The Company’s other receivables due from subsidiaries are repayable on demand and interest-free except for 
balance with a subsidiary amounting to $48,972,000 (2012 : $44,976,000) which is subject to interest at 1.85% per 
annum above USD SIBOR.  The average effective interest rate is approximately 2.12% (2012 : 2.28%) per annum. 
As at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, certain subsidiaries were at net capital defi ciency positions. No 
additional allowance for doubtful other receivables (2012 : $29,295,000) were provided on amounts due from these 
subsidiaries.
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10 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
   GROUP
   Assets Liabilities
   2013 2012 2013 2012
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Forward foreign exchange contracts  76  15 (234) (131)
 Interest rate swaps  - - - -
   76  15 (234) (131)

 Forward foreign exchange contracts

 The Group is party to a variety of forward foreign exchange contracts in the management of its exchange rate 
exposures.  The derivative fi nancial instruments outstanding as at end of the reporting period are as follows:

(i) Structured Forward Contracts

 The Group has entered into US$/RMB structured forward contracts which give the Group the opportunity to 
sell US$/buy RMB at rates which are more favourable than the market forward rates prevailing on the trade 
dates of the transactions by means of paying fi xed US$ and receiving variable RMB amounts per month when 
the RMB against US$ are at levels not exceeding 6.3. On the other hand, the Group is obliged to sell US$/buy 
RMB for certain specifi ed amounts at rates less favourable than the then prevailing market spot rates in the 
event of RMB depreciating against US$ beyond certain levels of 6.3 to 6.4 (2012 : 6.2 to 6.5). 

 As of December 31, 2013, the total notional amount of the outstanding US$/RMB structured forward contract 
was US$37.0 million (2012 : US$8.5 million) covering monthly settlements up to August 2015 (2012 : US$8.5 
million covering up to March 2014). As at December 31, 2013, the total notional amount due within 1 year 
and 2 to 5 years amounted to US$27.0 million and US$10.0 million (2012 : US$ 7.0 million and US$1.5 million) 
respectively.

 During the year, the Group has also entered into structured forward contracts for S$/US$ creating an avenue 
for the Group to purchase US$ for its working capital needs. These instruments set an obligation for the Group 
to sell S$/buy US$ for certain specifi ed amounts at the contractual rates when it is less favourable for the 
Group when compared to the prevailing market spot rates at the specifi ed strike dates. On the other hand, 
these instruments provide the Group an option to receive the net settlement gains or to sell S$/buy US$ at 
contractual rates if it is more favourable to the prevailing market spot rates. These instruments are structured 
to knock-out once the cumulative gains arising from favourable trades achieve its targeted gains.

 As at December 31, 2013, these instruments bear strike rates ranging from 1.22 to 1.27. Total notional amount 
of the outstanding structure forward contracts was US$55.7 million with weekly and monthly settlements up 
to June 2014.

 The instruments above, comprising both US$/RMB and S$/US$ instruments are denominated in USD.  Net 
fair value gain on the structured forward foreign exchange contract amounting to $364,000 (2012 : $100,000) 
are credited to profi t or loss. As at December 31, 2013, total outstanding instruments carried at fair value, 
amounting to $76,000 (2012 : $15,000) and $105,000 (2012 : $Nil), are presented as derivative fi nancial 
assets and derivative fi nancial liabilities respectively.
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10 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

(ii) Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts

 The instruments purchased are denominated in USD.  Net fair value gain (2012 : loss) on the forward foreign 
exchange contracts amounting to $615,000 (2012 : $106,000) is credited (2012 : charged) to profi t or loss.

At the end of the reporting period, the notional amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts 
to which the Group is committed is as follows:

 2013 2012
  $’000 $’000
 

Forward foreign exchange contracts 31,002 9,650

  Details of the forward foreign exchange contracts outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as 
follows:

  Average
 Outstanding contracts exchange rate Foreign currency Contract value Fair value
  2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
    FC’000 FC’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Buy US$ to sell S$

less than 6 months 1.24 1.22 24,500 7,910 31,002 9,650 (129) (131)

Interest Rate Swap Contract

 In 2009, the Group also entered into an interest rate swap contract at a fi xed rate of 2.175% per annum with the 
effective date on May 10, 2011 on the notional amount of US$3 million which will be amortised over 10 quarters 
according to the vessel loan repayment schedule. The swap was structured to hedge the USD SIBOR interest rate of 
the vessel loan by converting from a variable-rate instrument to a fi xed-rate instrument. In 2012, fair value loss on the 
instrument amounting to $3,000 was charged to profi t or loss. The interest rate swap contract matured during 2012.

 For these fi nancial instruments, inputs into models are market observable and are therefore included within Level 2 
of the fair value hierarchy of FRS 107.

11 INVENTORIES

   GROUP
   2013 2012
   $’000 $’000

 Finished goods 15,821 10,974
 Work-in-progress   2,354   4,031
 Raw materials 15,968 13,997
  34,143 29,002
 Goods-in-transit      4,428      -    
  38,571 29,002

 The cost of inventories recognised as an expense includes $433,000 (2012 : $141,000) in respect of write-downs of 
inventory to net realisable value, and has been reduced by $47,000 (2012 : $Nil) in respect of the reversal of such 
write-downs. Previous write-downs have been reversed as a result of subsequent sales of such inventory in excess of 
previous estimated realisable value.
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12 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
   COMPANY
   2013 2012
   $’000 $’000
 
 At cost

 Unquoted equity shares  94,759   93,392
 Deemed interest (i)   1,202   1,366
   95,961 94,758
 Impairment loss (11,445) (11,270)
 Carrying amount 84,516 83,488

(i)  Deemed interest arose from fi nancial guarantees provided by the Company to banks in respect of fi nancing facilities 
granted to its subsidiaries and the share options granted under ESOS 2000 by the Company to employees of its 
subsidiaries.  Management has assessed that the fair value of the fi nancial guarantees equivalent to 1.0% (2012 : 
1.0%) per annum of the amount of fi nancing facilities guaranteed from the dates when the fi nancing facilities were 
issued.

   COMPANY
   2013 2012
   $’000 $’000
 
 Movement in the allowance for impairment:

 Balance at beginning of year 11,270   8,663
 Increase in allowance recognised in profi t or loss      175   2,607
 Balance at end of year 11,445 11,270

 During the year, the Company carried out a review on the recoverable amount of its investment in subsidiaries.  The 
review led to an impairment loss of $175,000 (2012 : $2,607,000).  The recoverable amount is determined based on 
fair value, estimated by management to approximate the carrying amount of the net tangible assets of the respective 
subsidiaries, as at the end of the reporting period.

 The subsidiaries of the Company are set out below:

    Proportion  
    of ownership  
    interest and Cost of 
   Place of voting power investment 
   incorporation held by by
 Name of subsidiary and operation  the Group  the Company Principal activity
    2013 2012 2013 2012
    % % $’000 $’000
 
 Held by the Company

  Aztech Electronics  Singapore 100 100 72,727 72,074 Investment holding
 Pte Ltd      company

  Aztech Systems GmbH (1) Germany 100 100 6,556 6,556 Distribution and sale of
        multicommunication
        products and computer
        peripherals and provision
        of marketing services
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12 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

    Proportion  
    of ownership  
    interest and Cost of 
   Place of voting power investment 
   incorporation held by by
 Name of subsidiary and operation  the Group  the Company Principal activity
    2013 2012 2013 2012
    % % $’000 $’000

 Held by the Company (cont’d)
 
 Hitemco Pte Ltd (2) Singapore 100 100 3,000 3,000 Dormant

  AZ United Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 11,725 11,350 Non-building construction
        related works, including
        supply and procurement
        of materials

  AZ Marine Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 1,953 1,778 Chartering, operating and
        management of sea going
        vessels and provision of
        marine transportation
        services and investment
        holding

 Held by Aztech Electronics
 Pte Ltd

  AZ – Technology Malaysia 100 100 -      -      Distribution and sale of
 Sdn Bhd (3)      multicommunication
        products and computer
        peripherals and provision
        of marketing services

  Aztech Labs, Inc. (1) United States 100 100 -      -      Distribution and sale of
   of America     multicommunication
        products and computer
        peripherals and provision
        of marketing services

  AZ E-Lite (HK) Ltd (3) Hong Kong 100 100 -      -      Distribution and sale of
        electrical and LED lights
        and electronic and multi-
        communication products

  Aztech Systems Hong Kong 100 100 -      -      Manufacture and sale of
 (Hong Kong) Ltd (3)      multi-communication
        products and computer
        peripherals

  Azfi n Semiconductors Singapore 82 82 -      -      Dormant
 Pte Ltd (2)
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12 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

    Proportion  
    of ownership  
    interest and Cost of 
   Place of voting power investment 
   incorporation held by by
 Name of subsidiary and operation  the Group  the Company Principal activity
    2013 2012 2013 2012
    % % $’000 $’000

 Held by Aztech Electronics
 Pte Ltd (cont’d)

  Shiro Corporation Singapore 100 100 -      -      Sale of frozen and canned 
 Pte Ltd      food and wholesale of liquor and  

      soft drinks and carry on 
        research and development of
        all kinds of food, food
        products and beverages
 
  Aztech Technologies Singapore 100 100 -      -      Distribution and sale of
 Pte Ltd      multi-communication
        products and computer
        peripherals and design
        and manufacture of
        electrical and LED lights
        and lighting system 
        installation

  AZ E-Lite Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 -      -      Design and manufacture
        of electrical and LED
        lights and lighting system
        installation

  Aztech Global Pte Ltd (2) Singapore 100 100 -      -      Dormant
       

 Held by Shiro Corporation
 Pte Ltd

  Shiro Corporation Hong Kong 100 100 -      -      Dormant
 (HK) Limited (3)

 Held by Aztech Systems
 (Hong Kong) Ltd

  Aztech Communication China 100 100 -      -      Manufacture and sale
 Device (DG) Ltd (3)      of multi-communication
        products, LED lights
        and plastic injection parts
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12 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

    Proportion  
    of ownership  
    interest and Cost of 
   Place of voting power investment 
   incorporation held by by
 Name of subsidiary and operation  the Group  the Company Principal activity
    2013 2012 2013 2012
    % % $’000 $’000

 Held by Aztech Communication
 Device (DG) Ltd

 Shenzhen Aztech China 100 100 -      -      Research and development 
 Trading Company       of multi-communication 
 Limited (3)      products and general trading

 Held by AZ United
 Pte Ltd

  AZ Materials Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 -      -      Non-building construction
        related works, including
        supply of materials

 Held by AZ Marine
 Pte Ltd

  AZ Lavender Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 -      -      Ownership and chartering
        of sea going vessel

  AZ Lily Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 -      -      Ownership and chartering
        of sea going vessel

  AZ Orchid Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 -      -      Ownership and chartering
        of sea going vessel

  AZ Rose Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 -      -      Ownership and chartering
        of sea going vessel

  AZ Tulip Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 -      -      Ownership and chartering
        of sea going vessel

  AZ Peony Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 -      -      Ownership and chartering
        of sea going vessel

  AZ Carnation Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 -      -      Ownership and chartering
        of sea going vessel

  AZ Sunfl ower Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 -      -      Ownership and chartering
        of sea going vessel
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12 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

    Proportion  
    of ownership  
    interest and Cost of 
   Place of voting power investment 
   incorporation held by by
 Name of subsidiary and operation  the Group  the Company Principal activity
    2013 2012 2013 2012
    % % $’000 $’000

 Held by AZ Marine
 Pte Ltd (cont’d)

  AZ Iris Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 -      -      Ownership and chartering
        of sea going vessel

  AZ Marine Logistics Singapore 100 100 -      -      Ownership and chartering
 Pte Ltd      of sea going vessel

  AZ Sakura Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 -      -      Ownership and chartering
        of sea going vessel

  AZ Ivy Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 -      -      Ownership and chartering
        of sea going vessel

  AZ Marigold Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 -      -      Ownership and chartering
        of sea going vessel

  Aiden Marine Pte Ltd  Singapore  100 100 -      -      Ownership and chartering
        of conveyor barge

  Biden Marine Pte Ltd  Singapore  100 100 -      -      Ownership and chartering 
        of conveyor barge
                              
      95,961 94,758

  All the subsidiaries are audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore except for the subsidiaries that are indicated as 
follows:

(1) Not required to be audited by law in its country of incorporation. The net tangible assets and pre-tax profi ts of 
the entities are less than 20% of the Group’s consolidated net tangible assets and pre-tax profi ts respectively.  
Their unaudited fi nancial statements have been reviewed as part of the Group audit.

(2) These subsidiaries are exempted from audit and the net tangible assets and pre-tax profi ts of the subsidiaries 
are less then 20% of the Group’s consolidated net tangible assets and pre-tax profi ts respectively.  Their 
unaudited fi nancial statements have been reviewed as part of the Group audit.

(3) Audited by overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited.
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

(c) Leasehold property of the Group is as follows:
  
    Area Tenure 
Description Location Existing use (in sq metres) of lease  Carrying value
     2013  2012
     $’000  $’000

Leasehold Dongguan Jiu Self use 32,000 50 years with 4,894  5,007
Property  Jiang Shui Village,   effect from
 Chang Ping Town,   October 1, 2002
 Dong Guan City,
 Guangdong 
 Province, China

As at December 31, 2013, the Group was applying for the land use right certifi cate and 
property ownership certifi cates in respect of the leasehold property interest of $4,894,000 
(2012 : $5,007,000) from the relevant China government authorities. 

14 HELD FOR TRADING INVESTMENTS
   GROUP AND COMPANY
   2013 2012
   $’000 $’000

 Quoted debt securities, at fair value 1,441 1,816

 The investments above include investments in quoted debt securities that offer the Company the opportunity for 
return through interest income and fair value gains. They have no fi xed maturity and have coupon rates ranging from 
4.00% to 5.13% per annum.  The fair values of these securities are based on closing quoted market prices at the end 
of the reporting period. 

 The held for trading investments are denominated in the functional currency of the Company. 

15 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

   GROUP COMPANY
   2013 2012 2013 2012
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 
 Non-current

 Club memberships at fair value:

 At January 1 and December 31    412    412    405    405
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15 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS (cont’d)

   GROUP COMPANY
   2013 2012 2013 2012
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Current

 Quoted debt securities at fair value:

 At January 1 5,499 -     5,499    -    
 Additions 3 -        -        -    
 Disposals (4,753)    -     (4,753)    -    
 Fair value adjustment (27)    -     (27)    -    
 Reclassifi ed from held-to-maturity
    investments    -     5,499    -     5,499
 At December 31    722 5,499    719 5,499

 In 2012, the Group and the Company reclassifi ed its quoted debt securities from held-to-maturity investments to 
available-for-sale fi nancial assets. The weighted average effective interest rate of the quoted debt securities is 3.88% 
(2012 : 3.56%) per annum.  As at December 31, 2013, quoted debt securities of the Group and the Company have 
nominal values amounting to $753,000 (2012 : $5,500,000) and $750,000  (2012 : $5,500,000) respectively, with 
coupon rates ranging from 3.83% to 4.00% (2012 : 2.67% to 4.00%) per annum and maturing in 1 to 29 years 
(2012 : 2 to 30 years). The Group and the Company have intention to sell the quoted debt securities in the near term. 

16 DEFERRED TAX 

 The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised and the movements thereon, during the 
current and prior reporting periods:

    Accelerated  
    tax Tax Deferred
    depreciation losses expenditure Total
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 
 GROUP

 At January 1, 2012 (10)  (71) 381 300
 Charge (Credit) to profi t or
    loss for the year (Note 28) 66     70    (29)    107
 At December 31, 2012 56    (1) 352    407
 Credit to profi t or
    loss for the year (Note 28) (69)    -     (5)     (74)
 At December 31, 2013 (13)     (1)   347    333

 COMPANY

 At January 1, 2012 4   -    -       4
 Credit to profi t or
    loss for the year (2)    -    -      (2)
 At December 31, 2012 
    and December 31, 2013 2    -    -       2
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16 DEFERRED TAX (cont’d)

 Certain deferred tax liabilities and assets have been offset in accordance with the Group and Company’s accounting 
policy.  The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for the purpose of presenting on 
statement of fi nancial position:

   GROUP COMPANY
   2013 2012 2013 2012
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Deferred tax liabilities    335    410     2     2

 Deferred tax assets      (2)      (3)   -   - 

 
 Subject to the agreement by the tax authorities in the relevant foreign tax jurisdictions in which the Group operates 

and conditions imposed by law, the Group has tax losses carryforwards available for offsetting against future taxable 
income as detailed below.  In addition, the Singapore tax loss carryforwards are subject to the retention of majority 
shareholders as defi ned.

   GROUP
   2013 2012
   $’000 $’000
 
 Unutilised tax losses

 As at January 1 20,136     18,097
 Adjustment for prior years 1,732 103
 Arising in current year 7,086 7,483
 Exchange difference 426 (518)
 Amount utilised (includes group relief) (9,731)  (5,029)
 As at December 31 19,649 20,136

 Deferred tax benefi t on above not recorded   4,519   4,590

  
 No deferred tax asset has been recognised by the Group in respect of the tax losses amounting to $19,649,000 

as at December 31, 2013 (2012 : $20,136,000) due to the unpredictability of future profi ts stream of the relevant 
subsidiaries.

 The Group’s tax loss carryforwards amounting to $13,878,000 (2012 : $13,658,000) are available for an unlimited 
future period.  The remaining tax loss carryforwards amounting to $5,771,000 (2012 : $6,478,000) have a limited life 
ranging from 4 to 8 years (2012 : 5 to 9 years) to offset against future profi ts after which any unutilised amount will be 
foregone.

 No deferred tax asset has been recognised by the Group in respect of unabsorbed capital allowances and temporary 
differences arising from difference in accounting and tax depreciation of $1,072,000 (2012 : $847,000) due to 
the unpredictability of future profi ts stream of the relevant subsidiaries. The use and expiry of these temporary 
differences are subject to the agreement of the relevant tax authorities and compliance with certain provisions of the 
tax legislation. 

 At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed 
earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is $1,255,000 (2012 : $873,000).

 No deferred tax liability has been recognised in respect of the temporary difference associated with undistributed 
earnings of subsidiaries because the Group is in the position to control the reversal of the temporary difference and 
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
   GROUP
   $’000
 
 Deferred development cost

 Costs:
    At January 1, 2012  18,758
    Additions    2,238
    At December 31, 2012  20,996
    Additions    2,404
    At December 31, 2013  23,400

 Accumulated amortisation:
    At January 1, 2012  14,925
    Amortisation for the year    2,554
    At December 31, 2012  17,479
    Amortisation for the year    2,458
    At December 31, 2013  19,937

 Carrying amount:
    At December 31, 2013    3,463

    At December 31, 2012    3,517

 The deferred development cost above has fi nite useful lives, and is amortised on a straight line basis.  The amortisation 
period for development costs incurred is between one to three years. The amortisation of deferred development cost 
has been included under administrative expenses. As at December 31, 2013, the average remaining amortisation 
period of the intangible assets is 2 years (2012 : 2 years).

 The recoverable amount of the development cost relating to each product is determined from value in use 
calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth 
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period. Management estimates discount 
rates using pre-tax rates that refl ect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to 
the product.  The growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts.  Changes in selling prices and direct costs are 
based on past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

 The Group prepares a discounted cash fl ow forecast for three years from the end of the reporting period based on 
an estimated growth rate of 0% to 10% (2012 : 5% to 20%) per annum for the different product categories.  This rate 
does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.  The rate used to discount the forecast 
cash fl ows is 5% (2012 : 5%) per annum. 
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18 BORROWINGS
   GROUP COMPANY
   2013 2012 2013 2012
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 
 Current:

 Unsecured

 Bills payable 11,555 10,980    -     - 
 Export trade loans 27,873 10,604    -     - 
 Revolving loans 7,697   6,453 3,543 3,420
 Term loans 538   1,513    -     - 

 Secured

 Vessel loans   1,673   3,938    -     - 
   49,336 33,488  3,543 3,420

 Non-Current:

 Unsecured

 Term loans 750     327    -  -

 Secured

 Vessel loans     -    1,622    -     - 
       750   1,949    -     - 

 Total borrowings 50,086 35,437  3,543 3,420

 The borrowings are repayable
    as follows:

 On demand or within one year 49,336 33,488 3,543 3,420
 In the second year 200 1,949    -     - 
 In the third year     550    -     -     - 
   50,086 35,437 3,543 3,420
 Less:   Amount due for settlement
             within 12 months (shown
             under current liabilities) (49,336) (33,488) (3,543) (3,420)
 Amount due for settlement after
    12 months      750   1,949      -    - 
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18 BORROWINGS (cont’d)

1)  Trade fi nance

The Group has banking facilities relating to bills discounted with recourse, trade bills payable, revolving 
credits, export trade loan and bank overdrafts of $92,330,000 (2012 : $76,546,000), of which $47,125,000 
(2012 : $28,037,000) have been utilised as at December 31, 2013.  These banking facilities are secured by 
a corporate guarantee from the Company. These banking facilities bear interest rates from 1.7% to 5.8% 
(2012 : 1.9% to 5.8%) per annum.

2)  Term loans

  The term loans comprise:

i) an amount of $2,186,000 denominated in HK$12,000,000 extended to a subsidiary of the Company 
on October 30, 2009.  The loan bears interest at 1.75% per annum over HIBOR and is repayable in 
60 monthly instalments commencing in November 2009 (2009 : HK$383,000, 2010 : HK$2,315,000, 
2011 : HK$2,358,000, 2012  :  HK$2,406,000, 2013 : HK$2,455,000 and 2014 : HK$2,083,000). The 
average effective interest rate for the loan is approximately 2.0% (2012 : 2.0%) per annum. As at 
December 31, 2013, the loan has an outstanding balance of $338,000 (2012 : $711,000) denominated 
as HK$2,083,000 (2012 : HK$4,538,000).

ii) an amount of $3,290,000 denominated as HK$20,000,000 extended to a subsidiary of the Company in 
October 2010. The loan bears interest at 2.5% per annum below HK dollar prime rate and is repayable 
in 12 quarterly instalments commencing in January 2011 (2011 : HK$6,400,000, 2012 : HK$6,400,000 
and 2013 : HK$7,200,000). The average effective interest rate for the loan is approximately 2.8% (2012 
: 2.8%) per annum. The loan was fully repaid as at December 31, 2013 (2012 : outstanding balance of 
$1,129,000 denominated as HK$7,200,000).

iii) an amount of $1,000,000 extended to a subsidiary of the Company in August 2013 and November 
2013 in 2 equal trenches.  The loan bears interest at 2% per annum above UOB swap rate and is 
repayable in 12 equal quarterly instalments of $50,000 till August 2016, with the remaining balance 
to be repaid in a lump-sum repayment in September 2016  (2013 : $50,000, 2014 : $200,000, 2015 : 
$200,000 and 2016 : $550,000).  The average effective interest rate for the loan is approximately 2.4% 
per annum. As at December 31, 2013, the loan has an outstanding balance of $950,000.

3)  Vessel loans

i)  A loan of approximately $16,994,000 denominated as US$11,732,000 was extended to a 
subsidiary of the Company to purchase 2 tug boats and 6 barges in 2008 and 2009. The loan bears 
interest at 1.85% per annum over USD SIBOR  and is repayable over 5 years commencing in May 
2009 (2009 : US$1,391,000, 2010 : US$2,831,000, 2011 : US$1,923,000, 2012 : US$1,923,000, 
2013 : US$2,520,000 and 2014 : US$1,144,000).  The vessel loan is secured by fi rst priority mortgage 
over the vessels and a corporate guarantee from the Company. The average effective interest rate for 
the loan is approximately 2.1% (2012 : 2.2%) per annum. As at December 31, 2013, the outstanding 
balance of the vessel loan was $1,448,000 (2012 : $4,475,000) denominated as US$1,144,000 
(2012 : US$3,664,000).

ii)  A loan of approximately $1,920,000 was extended to a subsidiary of the Company to purchase 
a tug boat in 2009. The loan bears a fi xed interest rate of 5.0% per annum and is repayable in 48 
equal monthly instalments commencing in December 2009 (2009 : $40,000, 2010 : $480,000, 2011 : 
$480,000, 2012 : $480,000 and 2013 : $440,000). The vessel loan is secured by fi rst priority mortgage 
over the vessel of carrying amount of approximately $1,816,000 (2012 : $1,904,000) and a corporate 
guarantee from the Company. The average effective interest rate for the loan is approximately 5.0% 
(2012 : 5.0%) per annum. The vessel loan was fully repaid as at December 31, 2013 (2012 : outstanding 
balance of $440,000). 
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18 BORROWINGS (cont’d)

iii)  A loan of approximately $1,520,000 extended to a subsidiary of the Company to purchase a barge 
in 2010. The loan bears fi xed interest rate at 5.0% per annum and is repayable in 48 equal monthly 
instalments commencing in January 2011 (2011 : $420,000, 2012 : $455,000, 2013 : $420,000 and 
2014 : $225,000). The vessel loan is secured by fi rst priority mortgage over the vessel of carrying 
amount of approximately $2,864,000 (2012 : $2,989,000) and a corporate guarantee from the 
Company. The average effective interest rate for the loan is approximately 5.0% (2012  :  5.0%) 
per annum. As at December 31, 2013, the vessel loan has an outstanding balance of $225,000 
(2012 : $645,000).

19 FINANCE LEASES
    Present value
   Minimum of minimum
   lease payments lease payments
   2013 2012 2013 2012
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 
  GROUP

  Amounts payable under fi nance leases:

  Within one year 131        - 117 -
  In the second to fi fth

  years inclusive 493 - 436 -
     
 Less: future fi nance charges     (71)    - - -
 Present value of lease obligations    553    - 553 -
 Less: amount due for settlement

  within 12 months 
  (shown under current liabilities)    (117) -

  Amount due for 
  settlement after 12 months   436 -

 
  COMPANY

  Amounts payable under fi nance leases:

  Within one year 22 - 20 -
  In the second to fi fth
  years inclusive 90 - 79 -

 
 Less: future fi nance charges     (13)    - - -
 Present value of lease obligations      99      - 99 -
  Less: amount due for settlement

  within 12 months 
  (shown under current liabilities)   (20) -
  Amount due for 
  settlement after 12 months   79 -
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19 FINANCE LEASES (cont’d)

 During the year, the Group and the Company acquired certain motor vehicles under fi nance leases. The leases bear 
an average interest rate of 2.6% per annum and are repayable over an average lease term of 5 years. Interest rates 
are fi xed at the contract dates, and thus expose the Group and the Company to fair value interest rate risk. All leases 
are on a fi xed repayment basis with no arrangements entered into for contingent rental payments.

 As at December 31, 2013, the Group’s and the Company’s obligations under fi nance leases are secured by the 
lessors’ title to the motor vehicles, recorded within property, plant and equipment (Note 13), with net carrying values 
of $1,090,000 and $202,000 respectively.

 The fair value of the Group’s and the Company’s lease obligations approximate their carrying amounts and were 
denominated in the functional currency of the respective entities.

20 TRADE PAYABLES

   GROUP
   2013 2012
   $’000 $’000

 Outside parties 30,662 29,360

 Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs.

21 OTHER PAYABLES
 
   GROUP COMPANY
   2013 2012 2013 2012
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Subsidiaries (Notes 5 and 12)    -        -     20,995 26,804
 Accrued expenses 4,581 3,023 691 224
 Customer deposits 1,337 600 -     -    
 Other payables    873 1,136         5      715
 Total 6,791 4,759 21,691 27,743

22 SHARE CAPITAL
   GROUP AND COMPANY
   2013 2012 2013 2012
   ’000 ’000 $’000 $’000
 
   Number of ordinary shares

 Issued and paid up:
    At January 1 510,094 510,077 121,450 121,447
    Exercise of warrants       -              17      -                3
    At December 31 510,094 510,094 121,450 121,450

 Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends as and 
when declared by the Company.
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22 SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

 The Aztech Group Employee Share Option Scheme 2000 (“ESOS 2000”) was approved and adopted at the Company’s 
Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) held on March 10, 2000.

 The new shares ranked pari passu in all respects with existing shares of the Company.

 On November 24, 2009, the Company allotted 81,272,000 rights shares with 81,272,000 warrants (“Warrants 2012”) 
at an issue price of $0.125 for each rights share on the basis of one rights share with one warrant for every fi ve 
existing shares.  Each warrant entitles the warrant holder to subscribe for one new ordinary share of the Company 
at an exercise price of $0.20 per share.  The warrants have an exercise period of 3 years from November 24, 2009 to 
November 23, 2012. In 2012, 17,010 new ordinary shares were issued from the conversion of warrants. The warrants 
expired on November 23, 2012. As at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, there were no outstanding 
warrants.

23 TREASURY SHARES

   GROUP AND COMPANY
   2013 2012 2013 2012
   ’000 ’000 $’000 $’000
 
  Number of ordinary shares

 At beginning of the year 24,001 23,801 5,894 5,875
 Repurchased during the year     -         200    -         19
 At end of the year 24,001 24,001 5,894 5,894

 In 2012, the Company acquired 200,000 of its own shares through purchases on the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited. The total amount paid to acquire the shares was $19,000 and has been deducted from the 
shareholders’ equity. The shares are held as “treasury shares”. No share buyback was made during the year ended 
December 31, 2013.

24 EMPLOYEE SHARE BASED COMPENSATION RESERVE

 Equity-settled share option scheme

 ESOS 2000 was approved and adopted at the Company’s EGM held on March 10, 2000 and expired on March 9, 
2010.

 The Company has a share option scheme for all employees of the Group. The scheme is administered by the 
Remuneration Committee. Options are exercisable at price based on the average of the last done prices for the 
shares of the Company on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited for the 5 market days preceding the 
date of grant.  The vesting period is 1 to 2 years.  If the options remain unexercised after a period of 5 years from the 
date of grant, the options expire. Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the options vest.
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24 EMPLOYEE SHARE BASED COMPENSATION RESERVE (cont’d)

 Details of the share options outstanding at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

   GROUP AND COMPANY
   2013 2012
    Weighted  Weighted
   Number average Number average
   of share exercise of share exercise
     options      price     options     price   
    $  $

 Outstanding at January 1 6,301,036 0.138 7,506,445 0.165
 Cancelled during the year     -       -    (690,369) 0.410
 Lapsed during the year (6,301,036) 0.138   (515,040) 0.170
 Outstanding at December 31        -       -    6,301,036 0.138

 Exercisable at December 31        -       -    6,301,036 0.138

  There were no share options exercised during 2012 and 2013. The options outstanding as at December 31, 2012 
had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1 year. These options have expired during the year ended 
December 31, 2013.

  Date of grant of options Expiry date Exercise price Options outstanding
    2013 2012

  August 28, 2008 August 28, 2013 $0.185      -       1,095,833

  August 28, 2008 August 28, 2013 $0.160 (“A”)      -       5,205,203
    $0.128 (“B”)                              
            -       6,301,036

 There were no options granted during 2012 and 2013. 

 During the year, no share based payment expenses related to equity-settled share-based payment 
transactions (2012 : Nil) were recognised by the Group and the Company. Options granted on 
August 28, 2008 had expired on August 28, 2013 and share based payment expenses in relation to the options 
outstanding totalling $613,000 were reclassifi ed from the employee share-based compensation reserve to the 
accumulated losses.

 In 2012, options granted on July 27, 2007 had expired on July 27, 2012 and the share based payment expenses 
in relation to the options outstanding totalling $222,000 were reclassifi ed from the employee share-based 
compensation reserve to the accumulated losses. 
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25 REVENUE
   GROUP
   2013 2012
   $’000 $’000

 Sales of electronic products 164,151 150,942
 Supply of construction materials 71,445 67,777
 Marine logistic services  2,950 1,420
 Sales of food products    2,600     3,466
   241,146 223,605

26 OTHER OPERATING INCOME
   GROUP
   2013 2012
   $’000 $’000

 Rental income 159  1,539
 Interest income 292 389
 Fair value gains on derivative fi nancial instruments 979    -    
 Fair value gains on held for trading investments    -     56
 Gain on disposal of held for trading investments 1   -    
 Gain on disposal of available-for-sale fi nancial assets 74    -    
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  94 152
 Scrap sales 135 130
 Net foreign exchange gain    -     3,738
 Write back on impairment on insurance recoverable    -     177
 Others    437    484
 Total 2,171 6,665

27 FINANCE COSTS
   GROUP
   2013 2012
   $’000 $’000

 Bank charges 382     338
 Interest expense for:
    Bills payable and short-term trade loans 599 532
    Finance leases 4 -    
    Vessel loans 96 134
    Revolving loans, term loans and bank loans    189    347
 Total 1,270 1,351
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28 INCOME TAX

   GROUP
   2013 2012
   $’000 $’000
 
 Current tax
 -  incurred in foreign jurisdictions 1,050      892
 -  under provision in prior years 60 17

 Deferred tax 
 -  (credit) charge relating to the origination 
        or reversal of temporary differences (11)     107
 -  over provision in prior years      (63)      -     
 Income tax expense for the year   1,036   1,016

 Domestic income tax is calculated at 17% (2012 : 17%) of the estimated assessable profi t for the year. Taxation for 
other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

 The total charge for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profi t as follows:

   GROUP
   2013 2012
   $’000 $’000

 Profi t before income tax   7,506   1,246

 Income tax expense of statutory rate 1,276 212
 Effects of different tax rates of overseas subsidiaries 14 142
 Income exempt from taxation (139) (347)
 Effects of tax concession (67) (43)
 Losses from operations not subject to tax 297 489
 Non-allowable items 561 463
 Deferred tax benefi t arising in current year not recognised 135 161
 Utilisation of deferred tax benefi ts previously not recognised (1,039) (140)
 Under provision of current tax in prior years 60 17
 Over provision of deferred tax in prior years (63)     -     
 Others         1        62
 Total income tax expense   1,036   1,016
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29 NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

 Net profi t for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):
 
   GROUP
   2013 2012
   $’000 $’000
 
 Depreciation and amortisation:

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,980     4,989
 Amortisation of intangible assets 2,458    2,554
 Impairment of vessels       450      -     
 Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment costs    7,888    7,543

 Directors’ remuneration:
    of the Company 1,705 1,412
    of subsidiaries 295 328

 Directors’ fees:
    Directors of the Company       315       315
 Total 2,315    2,055

 Employee benefi ts expense
 (including Directors’ remuneration):

 Staff costs (including Directors’ remuneration) 12,014     12,178

 Defi ned contributions plans       877       685
 Total employee benefi ts expense 12,891   12,863

 Net foreign exchange loss (gain) 1,188 (3,738)

 Gain on disposal of held for trading investments (1) -     

 Gain on disposal of available-for-sale fi nancial assets (74) -    

 Fair value (gain) loss on derivative instruments       (979)           9
 
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (94) (152)
 
 Fair value loss (gain) on held for trading investments 125 (56)

 Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 189,415 187,497

 Audit fees paid to auditors:
    Auditors of the Company 254 233
    Other auditors 141 121

 Non-audit fees paid to auditors:
    Auditors of the Company          98         89
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30 EARNINGS PER SHARE

 The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the ordinary owners of the Company is 
based on the following data:

   2013 2012
   ’000 ’000
 
 Number of shares

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
    the purposes of basic earnings per share 486,093  486,153
 Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
    Share options      -       -     
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
    the purposes of diluted earnings per share 486,093 486,153

 Earnings

 Net profi t attributable to owners of the Company ($’000)    6,470       230

 Basic earnings per share (cents) 1.33 0.05

 Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
    Share options      -        -     
 Fully diluted earnings per share (cents)      1.33      0.05

 There are no outstanding options as at December 31, 2013. The outstanding number of options of 6,301,036 as at 
December 31, 2012 had not been included in the calculation of diluted profi t per share in 2012 because they were 
anti-dilutive for the fi nancial year presented.

31 DIVIDEND

 The Directors proposed a tax exempt one-tier fi rst and fi nal dividend of 0.75 cents per share amounting to $3,650,000, 
subject to the shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company, be paid in respect 
of the fi nancial year ended December 31, 2013. The proposed dividends have not been accrued as a liability in these 
fi nancial statements. No dividends have been paid during the fi nancial year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

32 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

(a) Operating lease commitments

The Group as lessee
   GROUP
   2013 2012
   $’000 $’000
 

Minimum lease payments under operating leases
   included in the profi t or loss 1,807 2,561
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32 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS (cont’d)

At the end of the reporting period, the commitments in respect of non-cancellable operating leases for offi ce 
and factory were as follows:

    GROUP COMPANY
    2013 2012 2013 2012
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 

Future minimum lease
payments payable:
Within one year 1,579 450 878 1,155
In the second to fi fth

years inclusive 1,994 134 125 1,091 
Total 3,573 584 1,003 2,246

Operating lease payments represents rentals payable by the Group for certain of its offi ce properties. Leases 
are negotiated for an average term of 2 years and rentals are fi xed for an average of 2 years.

The Group as lessor

The Group and the Company sublet its leased property in Singapore under operating leases.  Property rental 
income earned during the year was $159,000 (2012 : $1,539,000).  

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company have contracted with tenants for the following 
future minimum lease payments:

   GROUP AND COMPANY
   2013 2012
   $’000 $’000

Within one year    -        161 
In the second to fi fth year inclusive     -     -   

        -       161

(b) Contingent liabilities

 The Company has given undertakings to provide continuing fi nancial support to certain of its subsidiaries 
with capital defi ciencies amounting to $51,093,000 (2012 : $44,642,000) to enable them to continue as going 
concern and to meet their obligations for at least 12 months from the date of this report.

 Legal proceeding with a subtenant of Aztech Building

 In 2011, a subtenant of Aztech Building had fi led legal proceedings against the Company to claim for 
damages to its inventory caused by a burst in the condenser pipe in Aztech Building. Total claim amounted 
to $1,050,000 (2012 : $725,822) of which 90% are covered under the Company’s insurance policy.  The 
legal proceeding on liability was decided in favour of the claimant and the quantum of liability is yet to 
be determined by the Court. Management had made a provision of $105,000 (2012 : $72,000), being the 
remaining 10% not covered by the insurance policy. 
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32 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS (cont’d)

 Arbitration proceeding with a ship owner
  

 In 2011, a subsidiary of the Group entered into a contract of affreightment (the “contract”) with a disponent 
ship owner (the “ship owner”). The contract was terminated on February 17, 2012 and on March 9, 2012, the 
subsidiary fi led a notice of arbitration to claim for, inter alia, despatch monies and/or damages amounting to 
US$447,011 (equivalent to $545,353) and further for damages for the breach of contract.

 On August 21, 2012, the ship owner fi led a statement of defense and counterclaim for damages for alleged 
for wrongful termination of contract which the ship owner quantifi ed at US$718,032 (equivalent to $875,099), 
alleged net demurrage costs of US$473,902 (equivalent to $578,160) and alleged repair costs in the sum of 
US$37,919 (equivalent to $46,261).  

 In the current year, the subsidiary has amended its claim fi rst to remove its further claim for breach of contract 
and then to clarify that it is pending to the commercial context of the contract. The ship owner reduced its 
claim of damages for wrongful termination to US$423,360 (equivalent to $535,720) and increased its claim for 
repair costs to US$54,469 (equivalent to $68,925). The arbitration proceedings are still ongoing. No provision 
has been recognised as the outcome of the arbitration proceedings are presently unknown and the ship 
owner’s claims are disputed. 

(c) Pursuant to a land use right agreement dated June 15, 2002, a subsidiary of the Company is committed to pay 
to the local authority in China the land management fee of approximately $20,000 (RMB 100,000) per annum 
with an increment rate of 10% every fi ve years till September 30, 2052.

 The subsidiary is committed to an additional $10,000 (RMB 50,000) per annum with an increment rate of 10% 
every fi ve years till 2057, in accordance to an additional land use right agreement dated April 6, 2007.

33 SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Reportable segments

 For the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance, the Group’s chief operating 
decision makers have focused on the business operating units which in turn, are segregated based on the 
types of goods supplied and services provided. 

 Electronics – Design, develop, manufacture and market data communication, voice communication, 
multimedia and LED lighting products.

 Materials Supply – Supply and procurement of construction building materials.

 Marine Logistics – Ownership, chartering, operation and management of sea going vessels and provision of 
marine transportation services.

 Food & Beverage – Food distribution business.

 Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is presented below. The measurement basis of the 
Group’s reportable segments is in accordance with its accounting policy.
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33 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

           
      Inter- 

     Materials Marine Food & segment 
    Electronics    supply    logistics Beverage elimination Group
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 

 2013

 Revenue  164,170 71,445    49,008 2,614  (46,091) 241,146
 Cost of sales (138,914) (68,700)  (45,706) (2,140)   46,077 (209,383)
 Gross profi t 25,256 2,745 3,302 474 (14) 31,763
 Other operating income 2,536 1,079 778 6 (2,228) 2,171
 Selling and distribution costs (4,786) (1,177) -      (280) -      (6,243)
 Administrative expenses (14,096) (2,240) (2,342) (1,222) 985 (18,915)
 Finance costs      (882)     (246)    (1,369)    (30)    1,257   (1,270)
 Profi t (Loss) before income tax 8,028 161 369 (1,052) -      7,506
 Income tax   (1,099)     -           63    -      -   (1,036)
 Net profi t (loss) for the year    6,929      161        432 (1,052)      -    6,470

 Segment assets 131,226 66,938 67,246 8,346 (100,184) 173,572
 Segment liabilities (73,796) (53,086) (117,838) (8,966) 164,762 (88,924)

 Other segment information
 Additions to non-current assets  5,402 1,474    663     1,397     - 8,936
 Depreciation and

 amortisation expenses 4,733  139    2,444    122     - 7,438
 Allowance for inventory

 obsolescence 382     -     -      4     - 386
 Impairment of vessels - - 450 - - 450

 2012

 Revenue  150,942 67,777    9,444 3,466   (8,024) 223,605
 Cost of sales (128,382) (64,234)  (17,067) (2,875)    8,024 (204,534)
 Gross profi t (loss) 22,560 3,543 (7,623) 591 -      19,071
 Other operating income 6,547 1,088 1,322 (38) (2,254) 6,665
 Selling and distribution costs (4,735) (1,739) -      (230) -      (6,704)
 Administrative expenses (13,245) (1,978) (1,901) (293) 982 (16,435)
 Finance costs     (834)     (283)   (1,494)    (12)    1,272   (1,351)
 Profi t (Loss) before income tax 10,293 631 (9,696) 18 -      1,246
 Income tax     (940)     -       (76)    -      -   (1,016)
 Net profi t (loss) for the year    9,353      631   (9,772)     18      -       230

 Segment assets 175,493 48,214 67,068 4,828 (148,166) 147,437
 Segment liabilities (129,953) (34,523) (118,092) (4,371) 216,591 (70,348)

 Other segment information
 Additions to non-current assets    3,946     -    2,135     119     - 6,200
 Depreciation and

 amortisation expenses 5,310     -    2,228       5     - 7,543
 Allowance for inventory

 obsolescence 141     -     -           -     - 141
 Impairment of vessels - - - - - -
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33 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

  Revenues from major products and services

  The Group’s revenues from its major products and services were as follows:

    GROUP
    2013 2012
    $’000 $’000

  ODM/OEM Sales 58,707    44,622
  Contract manufacturing 69,517 80,178
  Retail distribution 35,927 26,142
  Supply and procurement of construction building materials 71,445 67,777
  Chartering and other logistics services 2,950 1,420
  Food distribution     2,600    3,466

    241,146 223,605

(b) Geographical information

 The Group operates in two principal geographical areas – Singapore and China.

 The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its segment assets (non-current assets 
excluding deferred tax assets) by geographical location are detailed below:

 Revenue Non-current assets
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Singapore 112,908 116,711 49,422 48,095
China 125,302 103,008 8,976 9,193
Others    2,936    3,886       15       22
Total 241,146 223,605 58,413 57,310

(c) Information about major customers

  The Group’s customer base is diversifi ed and includes 3 (2012 : 2) customers with whom transactions have 
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenues.  In 2013, revenues generated from these customers amounted to 
approximately $125.25 million (2012 : $99.23 million).  Details of concentration of credit risk arising from 
these customers are set out in Note 4.

34 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

 Legal proceeding with a customer

 In 2011, a customer of the subsidiary of the Group fi led legal proceeding for alleged defects in electronic products 
which were delivered between 2007 and 2009. Total losses to the customer have been estimated at US$0.73 million 
(equivalent to $0.89 million) and the amount is being claimed against the subsidiary of the Group.

 On January 2, 2014, the Court dismissed the action with costs to be taxed or agreed and paid by Plaintiff.
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34 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (cont’d)

 Collision between Group’s vessel and third party vessel

 On January 29, 2014, a third party vessel, NYK Themis struck the port bow of the Group’s barge, AZ Fuzhou.  NYK 
Themis’ hull was torn resulting in spillage of bunker fuel into the sea.   The Group’s underwriters, Shipowners Club 
has taken charge of the matter.  As part of their usual protocol, they have appointed surveyors and lawyers to handle 
the claim. No provision has been recognised as the Group’s position is that the vessel NYK Themis collided into our 
anchored vessel despite being warned and the outcome of the matter is presently unknown.

35 RECLASSIFICATION AND COMPARATIVE FIGURES

 During the year, certain amendments were made to line items within the consolidated statement of fi nancial position 
and the related notes to the fi nancial statements, to enhance the presentation of the assets of the Group. As a result, 
comparative fi gures have been reclassifi ed to be consistent with the current fi nancial year’s fi nancial statements.

 The items reclassifi ed were as follows:

     GROUP
    Previously After
   reported reclassifi cation

    2012 2012
    $’000 $’000
 
 Current:
 Other receivables and prepayment 5,176    4,513

 Non-Current:
 Other receivables and prepayment -       663
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NO. OF ISSUED SHARES (EXCLUDING TREASURY SHARES) : 486,092,846   
NUMBER/PERCENTAGE OF TREASURY SHARES : 24,001,000 (4.94%)    
CLASS OF SHARES : ORDINARY SHARES   
VOTING RIGHTS (EXCLUDING TREASURY SHARES) : ONE VOTE PER SHARE   
   
            
DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS          
 
SIZE OF NO. OF    
SHAREHOLDINGS SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %

1 - 999 150 1.39 5,372 0.00 
1,000 - 10,000 6,843 63.38 28,409,183 5.85 
10,001 - 1,000,000 3,774 34.95 199,948,951 41.13 
1,000,001 & ABOVE 30 0.28 257,729,340 53.02 
TOTAL 10,797 100.00 486,092,846 100.00
 
 
TOP TWENTY SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 17 MARCH 2014 NO. OF SHARES % 
 
MUN HONG YEW 116,305,663 23.93
DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 26,594,078 5.47
NG SOK CHENG 14,746,168 3.03
UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 14,732,800 3.03
OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 8,848,700 1.82
HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 8,373,016 1.72
DBS VICKERS SECURTIES (S) PTE LTD 7,957,200 1.63
NEO AIK SOO 6,418,000 1.32
OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD 5,890,148 1.21
TAY KONG HO 5,000,000 1.03
FOO FONG G 4,688,000 0.97
NG AH KAU @ NG KIM POH 4,403,039 0.91
CHIA HEOK MIIN 3,826,000 0.79
AVS TECHNOLOGIES PTE LTD 3,636,000 0.75
UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 3,540,600 0.73
PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 2,626,916 0.54
LIM GUAN TECK 2,400,000 0.49
BRAHMANA KARTA SAKRI OR SUDRIANI SAKRI 2,050,000 0.42
MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE LTD 2,034,012 0.42
BANK OF SINGAPORE NOMINEES PTE LTD 1,704,000 0.35
 245,774,340 50.56

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS  NO. OF SHARES 
 DIRECT INTEREST DEEMED INTEREST
  
MUN HONG YEW* 116,305,663 3,636,000

* Note:
 Mun Hong Yew is deemed to have an interest in 3,636,000 shares held by AVS Technologies Pte Ltd, where he is a Director and 

Shareholder.

RULE 723
As at 17 March 2014, approximately 73.80% of the shareholding was held in the hands of the public. As such, Rule 723 is complied with.
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AZTECH GROUP LTD
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

 Company Registration No. 198601642R

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting of AZTECH GROUP LTD will be held at 10 Eunos Road 
8, Level 5, Theatrette, Singapore Post Centre, Singapore 408600 on Friday, April 25, 2014 at 10.00 am for the following 
purposes:  

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and, if approved, to adopt the Audited Accounts for the fi nancial year ended December 31, 2013 together 
with the Directors’ Report and Auditors’ Report thereon.

    [Resolution 1]
              
2. To declare a fi nal one-tier tax exempt dividend of S$0.0075 per share for the fi nancial year ended December 31, 

2013.
[Resolution 2]      

3. To approve Directors’ fees of S$315,000 for the fi nancial year ending December 31, 2014. (2013 : S$315,000)
[Resolution 3]      

                                                                
4. To re-elect Mr Khoo Ho Tong under Section 153 of the Companies Act as a Director. 

[Resolution 4]

5. To re-elect Mr Philip Tan Tee Yong who is retiring under Article 107 of the Articles of Association as a 
Director. 

 [Resolution 5]

6. To re-appoint Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fi x their 
remuneration.                       

 [Resolution 6]

7. To transact any other routine business which may be properly transacted at an Annual General Meeting.
          
AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fi t, to pass the following resolutions (with or without amendments) as Ordinary 
Resolutions: 
                 
8.  That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors to:

(a) (i) issue shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; 
and/or

 (ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require 
Shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) 
warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into Shares, at any time and upon such terms 
and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors may, in their absolute 
discretion, deem fi t; and

(b) (notwithstanding that the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue Shares 
in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution was in force,
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provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including Shares to be issued in 
pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) shall not exceed 50 per cent of the 
total number of issued Shares excluding treasury Shares (as calculated in accordance with paragraph (2) 
below), of which the aggregate number of Shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders 
of the Company shall  not exceed 20 per cent of the total number of issued Shares excluding treasury Shares 
(as calculated in accordance with paragraph (2) below);

(2) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (“SGX-ST”)) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued 
under paragraph (1) above, the percentage of issued Shares shall be based on the total number of issued 
Shares excluding treasury Shares at the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

(i) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share options which 
are outstanding or subsisting at the time this Resolution is passed; and

(ii) any subsequent bonus issue or consolidation or subdivision of Shares;

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the 
Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-
ST) and the Articles of Association for the time being of the Company; and

(4) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting) the authority conferred by this Resolution 
shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date 
by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the 
earlier.          

[Resolution 7]
                                                                                                           

9. THAT :-

(a) for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Companies Act (Cap. 50) (“Companies Act”), the exercise by 
the Directors of the Company of all powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire issued ordinary 
shares of the Company (“Shares”), not exceeding in aggregate the Prescribed Limit (as hereinafter defi ned), 
at such price(s) as may be determined by the Directors of the Company from time to time up to the Maximum 
Price (as hereinafter defi ned), whether by way of:-

(i) market purchase(s) (each a “Market Purchase”) on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 
(“SGX-ST”); and/or

(ii) off-market purchase(s) (each an “Off-Market Purchase”) effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST in 
accordance with any equal access scheme(s) as may be determined or formulated by the Directors 
of the Company as they consider fi t, which scheme(s) shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the 
Companies Act, and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations and rules of the SGX-
ST as may for the time being be applicable;

be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and unconditionally (the “Share Buyback Mandate”);

(b) the authority conferred on the Directors of the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate may be 
exercised by the Directors at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from the passing 
of this Resolution and expiring on the earliest of:-

(i) the date on which the next annual general meeting of the Company is held or required by law to be 
held (unless renewed at such meeting);
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(ii) the date on which the Share purchases are carried out to the full extent mandated; or

(iii) the time when the authority conferred by the Share Buyback Mandate is revoked or varied by the 
shareholders of the Company in general meeting.

(c) in this Resolution:-

 “Prescribed Limit” means ten per cent (10%) of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at the 
date of passing of this Resolution; and

 “Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased or acquired, means an amount (excluding brokerage, 
commission, stamp duties, applicable goods and services tax, clearance fees and other related expenses) not 
exceeding:-

(i) in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price of the Shares; and

(ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme, 120% of the Average 
Closing Price of the Shares;

where:-

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last 
fi ve (5) market days on which transactions in the Shares were recorded on the SGX-ST immediately 
preceding the date of the Market Purchase by the Company or, as the case may be, the date of the 
making of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase, and deemed to be adjusted for any corporate 
action that occurs after the relevant fi ve-day period; and

“date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company announces its intention 
to make an offer for the purchase or acquisition of Shares from holders of Shares, stating therein the 
relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase; and

(d) the Directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such 
acts and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they and/or he may consider 
expedient or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Resolution.

[Resolution 8]

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Share Transfer Books and Register of Members of the Company will be closed on 6 
May 2014, for the preparation of fi nal dividend warrants. The fi nal one-tier exempt dividend of S$0.0075 per share for the 
fi nancial year ended 31 December 2013 will be paid on 20 May 2014.

Duly completed transfers received by the Company’s Share Registrar, B.A.C.S. Pte Ltd of 63 Cantonment Road, Singapore 
089758, up to close of business at 5 p.m. on 5 May 2014 will be registered to determine shareholders’ entitlement to the 
said dividend. Members whose securities accounts with the Central Depository (Pte) Limited are credited with shares at 5 
p.m. on 5 May 2014 will be entitled to the said dividend.

By Order of the Board
  
Ms Pavani Nagarajah
Company Secretary
April 10, 2014
Singapore
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Notes:
   
(i) A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead. A 

member of the Company, which is a corporation, is entitled to appoint its authorised representative or proxy to vote 
on its behalf.

 
 A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

 The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Company’s registered offi ce at 31 Ubi Road 1, #09-01, 
Singapore 408694 at least 48 hours before the time of the Meeting.

 
(ii) Resolution 3 is to facilitate payment of Directors’ fees during the fi nancial year in which the fees are incurred. The 

Directors’ fees will be paid in 4 equal installments on a quarterly basis, within 30 days of the end of each quarter. The 
aggregate amount of Directors’ fees provided in the resolution is calculated on the assumption that all the present 
Directors will hold offi ce for the whole of the fi nancial year ending December 31, 2014 (“FY 2014”). Should any of the 
other Directors hold offi ce for only part of FY 2014 and not the whole of FY 2014, the Director’s fee payable to him 
will be appropriately pro-rated.  

(iii) If re-elected under Resolution 4, Mr Khoo Ho Tong will remain the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a 
member of the Audit and Nominating Committees and will be considered an independent director of the Company. 

(iv)   If re-elected under Resolution 5, Mr Philip Tan Tee Yong will remain the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a 
member of the Remuneration and Nominating Committee and will be considered an independent director of the 
Company. 

 
(v) Resolution 7 is to empower the Directors to issue shares in the capital of the Company and to make or grant 

instruments (such as warrants or debentures) convertible into shares, and to issue shares in pursuance of such 
instruments, up to a number not exceeding 50%, of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a pro rata basis 
to shareholders, of the issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company. For the purpose of 
determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued shares shall be based 
on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time that 
Resolution 7 is passed, after adjusting for (a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible 
securities or share options which are outstanding or subsisting at the time that Resolution 7 is passed, and (b) any 
subsequent bonus issue or consolidation or subdivision or shares.

(vi) Explanatory Statement to Ordinary Resolution 8

 Resolution for the Renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate

 SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any of the statements made, reported, contained or 
opinions expressed in this explanatory statement.

A.  RATIONALE FOR THE SHARE BUYBACK MANDATE

 Any purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company would have to be made in accordance with, and in the 
manner prescribed by, the Companies Act and the rules of the Listing Manual and such other laws and regulations 
as may be applicable.

 It is a requirement of the Companies Act that before a company purchases or acquires its own shares, its articles of 
association must expressly permit the company to purchase or otherwise acquire the shares issued by it. Article 16 of 
the Articles empowers the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire any of its issued shares on such terms as the 
Company may think fi t and in the manner prescribed by the Companies Act.

 It is a requirement that a company which wishes to purchase or acquire its own shares should obtain approval 
of its shareholders to do so at a general meeting of its shareholders. Accordingly, approval is being sought from 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) for the Share Buyback Mandate.
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 If approved by the shareholders at the AGM, the authority conferred by the Share Buyback Mandate will continue 
in force until the earliest of:- the date on which the next AGM of the Company is held or is required by law to be 
held (unless renewed at such meeting); or the date on which the Share purchases are carried out to the full extent 
mandated; or the time when the authority conferred by the Share Buyback Mandate is revoked or varied by the 
shareholders in general meeting.

 A share buyback is one of the ways in which the return on equity of a company may be improved, thereby increasing 
shareholder value. By obtaining the Share Buyback Mandate, the Company will have the fl exibility to undertake 
purchases of Shares at any time, subject to market conditions, during the period when the Share Buyback Mandate 
is in force.

 The Share Buyback Mandate will also facilitate the return to the shareholders by the Company of surplus cash (if any) 
which is in excess of the Group’s fi nancial needs in an expedient and cost-effective manner.

 The Directors further believe that Share purchases by the Company may help to mitigate short-term market volatility 
in the Company’s Share price, off-set the effects of short-term speculation and bolster shareholders’ confi dence and 
employee morale.

 If and when circumstances permit, the Directors will decide whether to effect the share purchases via market 
purchases or off-market purchases, after taking into account the amount of surplus cash available, the prevailing 
market conditions and the most cost-effective and effi cient approach. The Directors do not propose to carry out 
purchases pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate to such an extent that would, or in circumstances that might, 
result in a material adverse effect on the fi nancial position of the Group.

 Shareholders should note that purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate may not 
be carried out to the full limit as authorised. The share purchases will not cause illiquidity or affect orderly trading of 
the Shares.

B. AUTHORITY AND LIMITS OF THE SHARE BUYBACK MANDATE

 The authority and limitations placed on purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company under the proposed 
Share Buyback Mandate are summarised below:-

(a) Maximum Number of Shares

 The total number of Shares which may be purchased or acquired by the Company pursuant to the Share 
Buyback Mandate shall not exceed ten per cent (10%) of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company 
as at the date of the last AGM of the Company held before the resolution authorising the Share Buyback 
Mandate is passed or as at the date on which the resolution authorising the Share Buyback Mandate is passed, 
whichever is the higher.

 Purely for illustrative purposes, on the basis of 486,092,846 Shares (excluding treasury shares) in issue as at 
the Latest Practicable Date (17 March 2014) and assuming that no further Shares are issued on or prior to the 
AGM to be held on 25 April 2014, not more than 48,609,284 Shares (representing 10% of the Shares in issue 
as at that date) may be purchased or acquired by the Company pursuant to the proposed Share Buyback 
Mandate.

(b) Duration of Authority

 Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be made, at any time and from time to time, by the Company on and 
from the date of the AGM at which the Share Buyback Mandate is approved up to the earliest of:

(i) the date on which the next AGM of the Company is held or required by law to be held (unless the 
mandate is renewed at such meeting);



AZTECH ANNUAL REPORT 2013

132

Notice of Annual General Meeting

(ii) the date on which the share purchases are carried out to the full extent mandated; or
(iii) the time when the authority conferred by the Share Buyback Mandate is revoked or varied by the 

shareholders of the Company in general meeting.

The Share Buyback Mandate may be renewed at each AGM or other general meeting of the Company.

(c) Manner of Purchases or Acquisitions of Shares

Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be effected by the Company by way of:-

(i) on-market purchases (“Market Purchases”); and/or
(ii) off-market purchases, otherwise than on a securities exchange, in accordance with an “equal access 

scheme” as defi ned in Section 76C of the Companies Act (“Off-Market Purchases”).

Market Purchases refer to purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company effected on the SGX-ST through the 
SGX-ST’s trading system, through one or more duly licensed dealers appointed by the Company for the purpose.

In an Off-Market Purchase, the Directors may impose such terms and conditions which are not inconsistent with the 
Share Buyback Mandate, the Listing Manual, the Companies Act and other applicable laws and regulations, as they 
consider fi t in the interests of the Company in connection with or in relation to any equal access scheme or schemes. 
An equal access scheme must, however, satisfy the following conditions:-

(i) offers for the purchase or acquisition of Shares shall be made to every person who holds Shares to purchase 
or acquire the same percentage of their Shares;

(ii) all of those persons shall be given a reasonable opportunity to accept the offers made; and
(iii) the terms of all the offers are the same, except that there shall be disregarded:-

• differences in consideration attributable to the fact that the offers may relate to Shares with different 
accrued dividend entitlements;

• (if applicable) differences in consideration attributable to the fact that the offers relate to Shares with 
different amounts remaining unpaid; and

• differences in the offers introduced solely to ensure that each person is left with a whole number of 
Shares.

Under the Listing Manual, if the Company wishes to make an Off-Market Purchase, the Company will issue an offer 
document containing, inter alia, the following information to all shareholders:-

(i) the terms and conditions of the offer;
(ii) the period and procedures for acceptances; and
(iii) the information required under Rule 883(2), (3), (4), (5) and (6) of the Listing Manual, being:-

a. the reasons for the proposed Share purchases;
b. the consequences, if any, of Share purchases by the Company that will arise under the Take-over Code 

or other applicable takeover rules;
c. whether the Share purchases, if made, could affect the listing of the Company’s equity securities on the 

SGX-ST;
d. details of any Share purchases made by the Company in the previous 12 months (whether market 

acquisitions or off-market acquisitions in accordance with an equal access scheme), giving the total 
number of Shares purchased, the purchase price per Share or the highest and lowest prices paid for 
the purchases, where relevant, and the total consideration paid for the purchases; and

e. whether the Shares purchased by the Company will be cancelled or kept as treasury shares.
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(d) Maximum Purchase Price

 The purchase price (excluding ancillary expenses such as brokerage, commission, applicable goods and 
services tax, stamp duties, clearance fees and other related expenses) to be paid for the Shares will be 
determined by the Directors. However, the purchase price to be paid for the Shares must not exceed the 
maximum price (“Maximum Price”) as set out below:-

(i) in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price of the Shares; and
(ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase, 120% of the Average Closing Price of the Shares,

in each case, excluding related expenses of the purchase or acquisition.

For the above purposes:-

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last fi ve (5) Market 
Days on which transactions in the Shares were recorded on the SGX-ST immediately preceding the date of 
the Market Purchase by the Company or, as the case may be, the date of the making of the offer pursuant to 
the Off-Market Purchase, and deemed to be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant 
fi ve-day period; and

“date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company announces its intention to make an 
offer for the purchase or acquisition of Shares from holders of Shares, stating therein the relevant terms of the 
equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase.

C.  PURCHASED SHARES: CANCELLED OR HELD IN TREASURY 

Shares which are purchased or acquired by the Company may be cancelled or held by the Company as treasury 
shares.  

If the Shares are cancelled, the Shares will be automatically delisted from the SGX-ST and all rights and privileges 
attaching to those Shares will expire on cancellation and certifi cates in respect thereof will be cancelled and destroyed 
by the Company as soon as reasonably practicable following settlement of any such purchase.

If the Shares are held as treasury shares and are subsequently sold, transferred, cancelled and/or used, the Company 
shall release an announcement stating the following:-
(a) date of the sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use;
(b) purpose of such sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use;
(c) number of treasury shares sold, transferred, cancelled and/or used;
(d) number of treasury shares before and after such sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use;
(e) percentage of the number of treasury shares against the total number of Shares outstanding in a class that is 

listed before and after such sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use; and
(f) value of the treasury shares if they are used for a sale or transfer, or cancelled.

D.  SOURCE OF FUNDS 

 The Company may, at its discretion, purchase Shares pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate out of capital and/or 
out of distributable profi ts.

 The Directors do not propose to exercise the Share Buyback Mandate in a manner and to such an extent that the 
working capital position of the Group would be materially adversely affected.

 The Company intends to use internal sources of funds and/or external borrowings to fi nance purchases or 
acquisitions of its Shares. The amount of funding required for the Company to purchase or acquire its Shares and the 
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fi nancial impact on the Company and the Group arising from such purchases or acquisitions of the Shares pursuant 
to the proposed Share Buyback Mandate will depend on, inter alia, the aggregate number of Shares purchased or 
acquired, the consideration paid at the relevant time, and the amount (if any) borrowed by the Company to fund the 
purchases or acquisitions.

E. SOLVENCY TEST

Under the Companies Act in force as at the Latest Practicable Date, we may not purchase Shares if we know that our 
Company is not solvent. For this purpose, a company is “solvent” if:

(a) the company is able to pay its debts in full at the time of the payment for the purchase and will be able to 
pay its debts as they fall due in the normal course of business during the period of 12 months immediately 
following the date of the payment; and

(b) the value of the company’s assets is not less than the value of its liabilities (including contingent liabilities) 
and will not after the proposed purchase, become less than the value of its liabilities (including contingent 
liabilities) having regard to the most recent fi nancial statements of the company and all other circumstances 
that the directors or managers of the company know or ought to know affect, or may affect, such values.

F. FINANCIAL EFFECTS 

The Company’s total issued share capital will be diminished by the total issue price of the Shares purchased or 
acquired by the Company if the Shares purchased or acquired are cancelled.

The fi nancial effects on the Group arising from purchases or acquisitions of Shares which may be made pursuant to 
the Share Buyback Mandate will depend on, inter alia, the aggregate number of Shares purchased or acquired, the 
consideration paid at the relevant time, and the amount (if any) borrowed by the Group to fund the purchases or 
acquisitions.

Based on the existing issued and paid-up ordinary share capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable 
Date, the purchase by the Company of 10 per cent (10%) of its issued Shares will result in the purchase or 
acquisition of 48,609,284 Shares.

Assuming the Company purchases or acquires the 48,609,284 Shares at the Maximum Price, the maximum amount 
of funds required (excluding related brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax, stamp duties, 
clearance fees and other related expenses) is:-

(a) S$6.80 million in the case of Market Purchases of Shares based on S$0.140 per Share (being the price 
equivalent to fi ve per cent (5%) above the Average Closing Price of the Shares traded on the SGX-ST for the 
fi ve (5) consecutive Market Days immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date); and

(b) S$7.78 million in the case of Off-Market Purchases of Shares based on S$0.160 per Share (being the price 
equivalent to twenty per cent (20%) above the Average Closing Price of the Shares traded on the SGX-ST for 
the fi ve (5) consecutive Market Days immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date).

For illustrative purposes only, on the basis of the assumptions set out above, and based on the audited fi nancial 
statements of the Group for the fi nancial year ended December 31, 2013, and assuming that:-

(i) the Share Buyback Mandate had been effective on January 1, 2013; 
(ii) the purchases or acquisitions of Shares are fi nanced solely by internal resources;
(iii) the Company’s net profi t for the year was S$6.47 million as at December 31, 2013 and
(iv) the capital of the Company was S$121.45 million as at December 31, 2013,
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the fi nancial effects of the purchase or acquisition of such Shares by the Company on the audited fi nancial 
statements of the Group for the fi nancial year ended December 31, 2013 would have been as follows:-

Market Purchases Group Company

As at December 31, 2013
(in thousands) 

Before Share 
Purchase

After Share 
Purchase

Before Share 
Purchase

After Share 
Purchase

Shareholders’ Funds S$ 84,648 S$ 77,843 S$ 68,692 S$ 61,887

Net Tangible Assets S$ 81,185 S$ 74,380 S$ 68,692 S$ 61,887

Current Assets S$ 115,157 S$ 108,352 S$ 8,475 S$ 4,435

Current Liabilities S$ 87,403 S$ 87,403 S$ 25,254 S$ 28,019

Total Borrowings S$ 50,639 S$ 50,639 S$ 3,642 S$ 3,642

Number of Shares 486,093 437,484 486,093 437,484

Financial Ratios

NTA per Share (cents) 16.70 17.04 14.13 14.15

Earnings (Loss) per Share (cents) 1.33 1.48 (0.12) (0.14)

Gearing (times) 0.60 0.65 0.05 0.06

Current Ratio (times) 1.32 1.24 0.34 0.16

Off Market Purchases
As at December 31, 2013
(in thousands)

Shareholders’ Funds S$ 84,648 S$ 76,871 S$ 68,692 S$ 60,915

Net Tangible Assets S$ 81,185 S$ 73,408 S$ 68,692 S$ 60,915

Current Assets S$ 115,157 S$ 107,380 S$ 8,475 S$ 4,435

Current Liabilities S$ 87,403 S$ 87,403 S$ 25,254 S$ 28,991

Total Borrowings S$ 50,639 S$ 50,639 S$ 3,642 S$ 3,642

Number of Shares 486,093 437,484 486,093 437,484

Financial Ratios

NTA per Share (cents) 16.70 16.82 14.13 13.92

Earnings per Share (cents) 1.33 1.48 (0.12) (0.14)

Gearing (times) 0.60 0.65 0.05 0.06

Current Ratio (times) 1.32 1.23 0.34 0.15

(1) Total borrowings comprise liabilities arising from borrowings from banks and other fi nancial institutions, and outstanding 
debt securities.

(2) Gearing is computed based on the ratio of total borrowings to shareholders’ funds.
(3) Current ratio is derived based on current assets divided by current liabilities.

For illustrative purposes, it has been assumed that the purchases or acquisitions of Shares are fi nanced solely by internal resources. 
Where the purchase or acquisition of Shares is fi nanced through external borrowings or fi nancing, there would also be an increase 
in the gearing ratios of the Group and the Company and a decline in the current ratios of the Group and the Company, with 
the actual impact dependent on, inter alia, the number of Shares purchased or acquired and the prices at which the Shares are 
purchased or acquired.
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Shareholders should note that the fi nancial effects set out above are for illustration purposes only (based on 
the aforementioned assumptions). The actual impact will depend on, inter alia, the number and price of the 
Shares purchased or acquired (if any). In particular, shareholders should note that the above analysis is based 
on the audited fi nancial statements of the Group for the fi nancial year ended December 31, 2013 and is not 
necessarily representative of future fi nancial performance.

The Company may take into account both fi nancial and non-fi nancial factors (for example, stock market conditions 
and the performance of the Shares) in assessing the relative impact of a share purchase before execution.

G. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS UNDER THE COMPANIES ACT

Within 30 days of the passing of a shareholders’ resolution to approve the purchases of Shares by the Company, the 
Company shall lodge a copy of such resolution with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority.

The Company shall notify the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority within 30 days of a purchase of Shares 
on the SGX-ST or otherwise. Such notifi cation shall include the following:

(a) the date of the purchase;
(b) the number of Shares purchased;
(c) the number of Shares cancelled;
(d) the number of Shares held as treasury shares;
(e) the Company’s issued share capital before the purchase;
(f) the Company’s issued share capital after the purchase;
(g) the amount of consideration paid by the Company for the purchase of the Shares; and
(h) whether the Shares were purchased out of the profi ts or the capital of the Company.

H. REQUIREMENTS IN THE LISTING MANUAL

Under Rule 884 of the Listing Manual, a listed company may purchase shares by way of Market Purchases at a price 
per share which is not more than fi ve per cent (5%) above the average closing market price, being the average of 
the closing market prices of the shares over the last fi ve (5) Market Days, on which transactions in the shares were 
recorded, before the day on which the purchases were made. The Maximum Price for a Share in relation to Market 
Purchases by the Company, referred to in section B (d) above, conforms to this restriction.

Rule 886 of the Listing Manual specifi es that a listed company shall report all purchases or acquisitions of its shares to 
the SGX-ST not later than 9.00 a.m. (i) in the case of a Market Purchase, on the Market Day following the day on which 
the Market Purchase was effected, and (ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase, on the second Market Day after the 
close of acceptances of the offer. The notifi cation of such purchases or acquisitions to the SGX-ST shall be in such 
form, and shall include such details, as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST in the Listing Manual.

The Listing Manual does not expressly prohibit any purchase of shares by a listed company during any particular 
time(s). However, as the Company would be regarded as an “insider” in relation to any proposed purchase or 
acquisition of its shares, the Company will not undertake any purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share 
Buyback Mandate at any time after any matter or development of a price-sensitive nature has occurred or has been 
the subject of a decision of the Board until the price-sensitive information has been publicly announced. 

Rule 723 of the Listing Manual requires a company to ensure that at least ten per cent (10%) of equity securities 
(excluding preference shares and convertible equity securities) in a class that is listed is held by public shareholders. 
The “public”, as defi ned under the Listing Manual, are persons other than the directors, chief executive offi cer, 
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as the associates 
of such persons.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the public fl oat of the Company stands at 73.80%. If the Share Buyback Mandate is 
exercised in full, and a total of 48,609,284 Shares are purchased pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate, the public 
fl oat of the Company will be 70.89%. The Share Buyback Mandate will not affect the listing of the Company on SGX-
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ST by reason of the public fl oat of the Company being reduced to below 10% of the total issued share capital of the 
Company. The Share Buyback Mandate is also not expected to affect the orderly trading of the Company’s Shares 
on the SGX-ST.

I. CERTAIN TAKE-OVER CODE IMPLICATIONS

 Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code contains the Share Buyback Guidance Note applicable as at the Latest 
Practicable Date. The take-over implications arising from any purchase or acquisition by the Company of its 
Shares are set out below:

(a) Obligation to Make a Take-over Offer

 Any resultant increase in the percentage of voting rights held by a shareholder and persons acting in concert 
with him, following any purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company, will be treated as an acquisition 
for the purposes of Rule 14 of the Take-over Code (“Rule 14”). Consequently, depending on the number 
of Shares purchased or acquired by the Company and the Company’s issued share capital at that time, a 
shareholder or group of shareholders acting in concert with each other could obtain or consolidate effective 
control of the Company and could become obliged to make a take-over offer under Rule 14.

(b) Persons Acting in Concert

 Under the Take-over Code, persons acting in concert comprise individuals or companies who, pursuant to 
an agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal), co-operate, through the acquisition by any of 
them of shares in a company to obtain or consolidate effective control of that company. Unless the contrary is 
established, the following persons, inter alia, will be presumed to be acting in concert, namely, (i) a company 
with any of its directors (together with their close relatives, related trusts as well as companies controlled by 
any of the directors, their close relatives and related trusts), and (ii) a company, its parent, subsidiaries and 
fellow subsidiaries, and their associated companies and companies of which such companies are associated 
companies, all with each other. For this purpose, a company is an associated company of another company if 
the second company owns or controls at least twenty per cent (20%) but not more than fi fty per cent (50%) of 
the voting rights of the fi rst-mentioned company.

(c) Effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2

 The circumstances under which shareholders (including Directors) and persons acting in concert with them 
respectively will incur an obligation to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 after a purchase or acquisition of 
Shares by the Company are set out in Rule 14 and Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code. In general terms, the 
effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2 is that, unless exempted, Directors and persons acting in concert with them 
will incur an obligation to make a take-over offer for the Company under Rule 14 if, as a result of the Company 
purchasing or acquiring Shares, the voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties would increase 
to thirty per cent (30%) or more, or, if the voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties fall between 
thirty per cent (30%) and fi fty per cent (50%) of the Company’s voting rights, the voting rights of such Directors 
and their concert parties would increase by more than one per cent (1%) in any period of six (6) months.

 Under Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code, a shareholder not acting in concert with the Directors will not 
be required to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 if, as a result of the Company purchasing or acquiring 
its Shares, the voting rights of such shareholder would increase to thirty per cent (30%) or more, or, if such 
shareholder holds between thirty per cent (30%) and fi fty per cent (50%) of the Company’s voting rights, 
the voting rights of such shareholder would increase by more than one per cent (1%) in any period of six (6) 
months. Such shareholder need not abstain from voting in respect of the resolution authorising the proposed 
Share Buyback Mandate.
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(d) Directors’ and Substantial Shareholders’ Interests

 Based on the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings and the Register of Substantial Shareholders of the Company, 
as at the Latest Practicable Date, the shareholdings of the Directors and of the Substantial Shareholders in 
the Company before and after the purchase of Shares pursuant to the proposed Share Buyback Mandate, 
assuming (i) the Company purchases the maximum amount of ten per cent (10%) of the issued ordinary 
share capital of the Company, and (ii) there is no change in the number of Shares held by the Directors and 
Substantial Shareholders or which they are deemed to be interested in, will be as follows:-
 

----------------As at Latest Practicable Date-------------

Before Share
Purchase

After Share 
Purchase

Total Number of 
Shares in which 

interested
(direct and 

deemed)

% of 
Issued 

Shares (1)

% of 
Issued 

Shares (1)

Directors

Michael Mun Hong Yew (2) 119,941,663 24.675 27.416

Martin Chia Heok Miin 3,848,000 0.792 0.880

Jeremy Mun Weng Hung 1,044,000 0.215 0.239

Colin Ng Teck Sim 888,000 0.183 0.203

Philip Tan Tee Yong 600,000 0.123 0.137

Khoo Ho Tong 806,000 0.166 0.184

Substantial Shareholders

Michael Mun Hong Yew (2) 119,941,663 24.675 27.416

 Notes:-

(1) Based on an issued share capital (excluding treasury shares) of 486,092,846 Shares as at the Latest 
Practicable Date.

(2) As at the Latest Practicable Date, Michael Mun Hong Yew’s aggregate interest of 119,941,663 Shares 
consists of 116,305,663 Shares which he holds directly and 3,636,000 Shares held by AVS Technologies 
Pte Ltd. Michael Mun Hong Yew is regarded as acting in concert with (i) his son Jeremy Mun Weng 
Hung who holds 1,044,000 Shares; (ii) his son Mun Weng Kai who holds 50,000 Shares; (iii) his son Mun 
Weng Hoe who holds 30,000 Shares; and (iv) his brother Mun Hon Pheng who holds 41,000 Shares as 
at the Latest Practicable Date, pursuant to the Take-over Code.  
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As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors or Substantial Shareholders will be obliged to make a 
mandatory take-over offer in the event that the Company purchased the maximum 10% of the issued Shares under 
the proposed Share Buyback Mandate.  

 
Shareholders who are in doubt as to whether they would incur any obligation to make a takeover offer as a result 
of any purchase of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate are advised to consult their 
professional advisers and/or the Securities Industry Council before they acquire any Shares in the Company during 
the period when the Share Buyback Mandate is in force.

The statements herein do not purport to be a comprehensive or exhaustive description of all implications that 
may arise under the Take-over Code. Shareholders are advised to consult their professional advisers and/or 
the Securities Industry Council and/or other relevant authorities at the earliest opportunity as to whether an 
obligation to make a take-over offer would arise by reason of any purchase or acquisition of Shares by the 
Company.

J. SHARES PURCHASED IN THE PREVIOUS 12 MONTHS
  
 No purchases of Shares have been made by the Company in the 12 months preceding the date of this Notice. 
            
K. RECOMMENDATION
 
 The Directors are of the opinion that the proposed Share Buyback Mandate for the buyback by the Company of its 

Shares is in the best interests of the Company. They accordingly recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of the 
Resolution, being the ordinary resolution number 8 relating to the Share Buyback Mandate set out at page 129-130 
of this Annual Report.

L. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

 The Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in this 
Explanatory Statement and confi rm after making all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and 
belief, this Explanatory Statement constitutes full and true disclosure of all material facts about the renewal of the 
Share Buyback Mandate, the issuer and its subsidiaries, and the Directors are not aware of any facts the omission of 
which would make any statement in this Explanatory Statement misleading. Where information in the Explanatory 
Statement has been extracted from published or otherwise publicly available sources or obtained from a named 
source, the sole responsibility of the Directors has been to ensure that such information has been accurately and 
correctly extracted from those sources and/or reproduced in the Explanatory Statement in its proper form and 
context.
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PROXY FORM FOR ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
No. of Shares held

I/We ____________________________________________________________________________________________

of ______________________________________________________________________________________________

being a Member(s) of Aztech Group Ltd, hereby appoint Mr/Mrs/Ms

Name Address NRIC/Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company as my/our proxy, to 
vote for me/us and on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll, at the AGM of the Company, to be 
held at 10 Eunos Road 8, Level 5, Theatrette, Singapore Post Centre, Singapore 408600 on Friday, April 25, 
2014, and at any adjournment thereof in the following manner:-

Resolution No. Resolutions FOR AGAINST
1 To adopt the Audited Accounts, Director’s Report and 

Auditors’ Report
2 To declare a fi nal one-tier tax exempt dividend of S$0.0075 

per share
3 To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees for FY 2014
4 To re-elect Mr Khoo Ho Tong as a Director under Section 

153 of the Companies Act
5 To re-elect Mr Philip Tan Tee Yong  as a Director under 

Article 107
6 To re-appoint Auditors and authorise Directors to fi x their 

remuneration
7 To authorise Directors to issue Shares and/or instruments
8 To renew Share Buyback Mandate

If you wish to exercise all your votes For or Against, please tick with “√  “. Alternatively, please indicate the 
number of votes For or Against each resolution.

If this form of proxy contains no indication as to how the proxy should vote in relation to each resolution, the 
proxy shall, as in the case of any other business raised at the meeting, vote as the proxy deems fi t.

As witness my/our hand(s) this  day of  2014.

_______________________________________
Signature of Shareholder

OR
The Common Seal of the company was hereunto affi xed in the presence of :-

_______________________________________ _______________________________________
Director Director/Secretary

IMPORTANT:
This Annual Report is forwarded to CPF Investors at the request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely FOR 
INFORMATION. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF Investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used 
or purported to be used by them.

Aztech Group Ltd



Notes:

1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository 
Register (as defi ned in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50), you should insert that number of shares. If you 
have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares 
entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you 
should insert the aggregate number of shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your 
name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed 
to relate to all the shares held by you.

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to 
attend and vote instead of him.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, he shall specify the percentage of his shares to be represented by each proxy and 
if no percentage is specifi ed, the fi rst named proxy shall be deemed to represent 100 percent of his shareholding and the 
second named proxy shall be deemed to be an alternate to the fi rst named.

4. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies together with the letter or power of attorney, if any, under which it is signed 
or a duly certifi ed copy thereof, must be deposited at the registered offi ce of the Company at 31 Ubi Road 1, #09-01, 
Singapore 408694, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Annual General Meeting.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorized in 
writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under 
its seal or under the hand of an offi cer or attorney duly authorized.

7. A corporation which is a member may authorize by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as 
it thinks fi t as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, 
Chapter 50.

8. Please indicate with a “√ ” in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be for or against the Resolutions as set 
out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting. In the absence of specifi c directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as 
he/they may think fi t, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the Annual General Meeting.

9. The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly 
completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the 
appointor specifi ed in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.

10. In the case of a member whose shares are entered against his name in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any 
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered 
against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General 
Meeting, as certifi ed by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.




